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Wednesday, February 20, 2013

--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MS. HARE:   Please be seated.

Good morning.  Before we resume with Mr. Elson's cross-examination, are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I have just one small matter to mention.

I understand that one of the witnesses took something subject to check yesterday that requires some follow-up, so that is just an item to be addressed at some point before the cross-examination resumes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  And what about undertaking responses?  Any progress?

MR. CASS:  They're being worked on as we speak.  Madam Chair, there are no answers ready at this point in time, but certainly the objective is to have them answered as quickly as possible.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  So, Mr. Elson, we are ready for you to resume.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 1, RESUMED

Asheef Jamal, Previously Affirmed


Tom Odell, Previously Sworn


Eugene Shlatz, Previously Affirmed


Darryl Seal, Previously Sworn


Jack Simpson, Previously Sworn


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Oh, sorry.  Ms. Spoel, is asking me to clarify.  You want to check the "subject to check"?

MR. CASS:  I understand that one of the witnesses has a comment about something that was taken subject to check.

MS. HARE:  I misunderstood.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.

MR. ODELL:  This will be very brief.

In page 144 of the evidence, I made a statement that the 2012 cost of the second phase of the Bremner station project was $46.3 million, subject to check.  That appears in lines 5, 9 and 14 of the transcript.

The actual number is $47.3 million, which is shown in our evidence, tab 4, B17, page 37.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Good morning.

MR. ODELL:  Good morning.

MR. ELSON:  I would like to explore with you the potential for distributed generation to potentially defer the need for the proposed Bremner station.  If you could start by turning to tab 11 of the Environmental Defence reference book, which again is Exhibit K6.4, this tab includes excerpts from a Navigant study for Toronto Hydro entitled, "Central and Downtown Toronto Distributed Generation, Final Report".  This was filed in EB-2009-0139.

I would ask you to turn to page 2 of the executive summary, which estimates the potential for CHP and solar PV in downtown and central Toronto.  The table summarizes the technical and the market potential.

I would like to go through some of these numbers with you starting with the technical potential for CHP, which of course is combined heat and power, in downtown and central Toronto.

According to the fourth column, the technical potential for conventional CHP is 640 megawatts.  Would you agree with that number?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, that's the figure for long term.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And the fifth column is the technical potential for fuel cell CHP, which is 150 megawatts.  The sixth column is technical potential for multi-residential CHP, which is 84 megawatts, and the seventh column is technical potential for micro CHP, which is 210 megawatts.

So totalling those together, the total technical potential for CHP in downtown and central Toronto is 1,084 megawatts, subject to check?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And according to the last two columns, the total technical potential for residential and non-residential solar PV is 1,300 megawatts?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct, in the table.

MR. ELSON:  Those were the technical potentials, but also, according to the first bullet on this page, the total market potential for distributed generation in downtown and central Toronto ranges from approximately 140 megawatts in the next five years to more than 550 megawatts in the next ten years; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Those are the right totals.

MR. ELSON:  I would like to explore the reasons, now given in the Navigant report filed in this proceeding, for why DG cannot defer the need for Bremner.  Those are the reasons provided in the Navigant report at tab 3 of the cross-examination reference book.

Those reasons are summarized on page 17 of the business case analysis, again, tab 3 of the cross-examination reference book. And the third paragraph on this page identifies two barriers to DG, and the first barrier is siting DG in dense downtown load areas.  I have underlined that portion.  Do you see that there?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, thank you.

MR. ELSON:  And the second barrier is that the ability to install rotating generators is limited by fault current limits and by the likely desensitization of network protectors.

MR. SIMPSON:  Especially in that downtown core, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And, as a result, in the fourth paragraph, Navigant concludes that:
"... there is considerable uncertainty that customers will install DG in an amount sufficient to back up Windsor or to defer station capacity needed to serve downtown Toronto."


Yes?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And from that, Navigant concluded that DG is, quote/unquote, "speculative" and, hence, not a viable option in the near term to defer the need for the proposed Bremner station.

MR. SHLATZ:  That's a conclusion that we still hold today.

MR. ELSON:  Nevertheless, in the last sentence, Navigant acknowledges that DG as an alternative should be reconsidered if it can be demonstrated to be a viable option.

MR. SHLATZ:  Yes, mm-hmm, as would be the case with any option.

MR. ELSON:  We would like to explore in more detail these two barriers, starting with the limitation in the electricity grid to incorporate DG.

To do that, if you could turn to tab 12 of our reference book, this tab contains excerpts from another Navigant study for Toronto Hydro entitled, "Toronto Hydro System Connection Capacity and Enabling Options for Distributed Generation".  This was filed in EB-2011-0144, Exhibit D1, tab 12, schedule 4, appendix A.

If you would turn to page 2 of this report, according to the middle paragraph:
"With respect to DG connection capacity on THESL's 13.8kV and 27.6kV distribution system, several feeders and busses were found to have significant DG connection capacity available, whereas some feeders and busses were found to have very limited or no connection capacity."


And so this is referring to the constraints discussed in the Navigant report filed in this proceeding?

MR. SHLATZ:  It is.

MR. ELSON:  Furthermore, according to this paragraph:
"In most areas with limited or no capacity, the current HONI transmission system is the limiting constraint to new DG installations.  THESL equipment is the limiting constraint for only a few feeders and busses."


MR. SIMPSON:  I need to point out that this was the information available at the time and that every connection needs to be looked at with the current site-specific information.

It is quite dynamic across the city with new loads and new connections.  So things have changed since the time this was written, and they would need to be looked at again.

MR. ELSON:  So are you saying that those statements are not correct, or are they --


MR. SIMPSON:  They were valid at the time, but the system is dynamic and we would have to investigate, again, where the constraints were, and you might find some have disappeared and some more have appeared.

MR. ELSON:  I am going to get to some of the work that has occurred subsequently, so maybe I should move on.

According to the first bullet point at the bottom of the page, due to short circuit constraints at HONI's Leaside, Hearn and Manby transformer stations, virtually no DG can be installed in downtown Toronto at the present.  Is that right, at the time?

MR. SIMPSON:  It is correct, and it persists to this day.  There is a blanket capacity of only about 10 megawatts in the downtown area, currently.

MR. ELSON:  However, Hydro One is upgrading its transformer stations to remove these short-circuit constraints, and these upgrades will be completed in 2013 to 2014?

MR. SIMPSON:  That was the schedule with the best information at the time.

Hydro One's work is proceeding.  Our latest information from them is that the Leaside work will be completed by 2015.  It's worth noting that associated work at Hearn and Manby also needs to be completed, to unlock that connection capacity for the downtown area.

MR. ELSON:  So Leaside has been pushed back from 2014 to 2015; is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  It should be in service by 2015.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

And if you could turn to page 36 of this report, which is page 124 of the cross-examination reference book, according to the underlined portion:

"When the Hydro One upgrades are complete, Toronto Hydro will be able to accept 490 megawatts of synchronous DG or up to 733 megawatts of solar PV in downtown and central Toronto."

Is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That was accurate with the conditions at the time of the report.  Again, conditions may have tightened or eased somewhat.

MR. ELSON:  Well, do you have a better number?  Are those approximate figures in the proper magnitude?

MR. SIMPSON:  Those are reasonable, if all of the associated Hydro One upgrade work is done at Leaside, Manby and Hearn.  And we would have to look at it with the current conditions for the Toronto Hydro system constraints.

MR. ELSON:  So they may not be the exact numbers, but it is in the vicinity of those numbers?  Would that be a correct summary?

MR. SIMPSON:  They're approximate figures.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  I need to point out that it is very, very specific to the constraints at each station.  So you can't apply these globally, for example, across the five downtown stations.

We'd need to look at each very carefully.

MR. ELSON:  If you could turn back to page 3 of your report, according to the first full paragraph on this page:

"Navigant and Toronto Hydro analyzed various enabling options to increase the DG connection capacity of the Toronto Hydro grid."

MR. SIMPSON:  Just reference the page number again, please.

MR. ELSON:  Page 3 of the Navigant report.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And according to the first line in the next paragraph:

"In general, DG connection capacity can be increased at a unit cost well below the installed cost of DG capacity."

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And in the last line, second-last paragraph:

"Together, the upgrade plans proposed in THESL's GEA plan and HONI's local transmission system upgrades will significantly increase THESL's DG connection capacity."

Is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  They have that potential, yes.

I need to point out a couple of things.

The work was developed to support a planned GEA submission to OEB, and so any of the improvements that would be requested under that GEA plan would be subject to OEB approval and funding.

None of that is in place today.

MR. ELSON:  If you could turn to page 38 of your report, this section outlines the enabling options that can increase Toronto Hydro's DG connection capacity; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Flipping over two pages, to page 40 of the Report -- this is table 7 -- it outlines the enabling options to deal with the short-circuit capacity constraints?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the following page is table 8, which is page 41.  This outlines the enabling options to deal with minimum load-reverse power issues?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And table 9 outlines the option to deal with capacity, protection and control issues?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And finally on page 42, according to the first sentence:

"The analysis presented herein assumes upgrades to Leaside, Hearn and Manby, but exclude other major transmission upgrades or a possible third source of supply to Toronto."

Is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  I would like to explain why that statement is there.

To make these measures effective, we can't do things in isolation from Hydro One.  So the work plan was developed to coincide with upgrade work that Hydro One had planned in their work, so that it is an effective, you know, program.  Nothing is lost.

MR. ELSON:  You would agree this capacity to incorporate DG can be increased without building Bremner?

MR. SIMPSON:  No.  Those are two separate matters.

MR. ELSON:  My understanding from the line at page 42 was that the analysis presented in this document excludes other upgrades to the system.

MR. SIMPSON:  Would you restate your question, please?

MR. ELSON:  It seemed to me that at page 42, it says that the -- that these options don't include that we've gone through table 8, table 9, table 7; none of these include upgrades to the -- or creating the Bremner station?

MR. SCHLATZ:  The report at the time did not contemplate Bremner construction.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

I would like to move on to my last area of questions, which relates to Toronto Hydro's profit incentives for CDM, DG and a transformer station.

I would like to compare the potential impact of the proposed Bremner station on Toronto Hydro's net income, versus the Environmental Defence's alternative proposal, you could call it.

If you could turn to tab 19 of our reference book, this provides a rough calculation, you could say, of the potential impact of the Bremner transformer station on Toronto Hydro's net income.  I believe we provided this to you last Wednesday.

Do you agree or do you have any concerns with the assumptions or calculations appearing on this table at tab 19, or this document at tab 19?

MR. ODELL:  There is one concern, that the incremental rate base number used is 272 million.

The application before the Board today is for phase 1 of the Bremner transformer station project, which is 194.9 million.

MR. ELSON:  So the 272 was for both phases of the project, and that comes up with about 10 million, but if we focus just on phase 1, what would the net income be, per year?

I understand that would be $195 million, and multiply it by 0.4 to get the Board-approved ratio.

MR. JAMAL:  Excuse me.  These figures don't include costs.  They're just the top line.

So it is hard to determine net income just by using that logic.

MR. ELSON:  Sorry, could you explain that again?

MR. JAMAL:  As I understand it, these are just the gross numbers that are not net of costs.

MR. ELSON:  I'm talking about increases in the rate base through net income.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ELSON:  My understanding is that net income would be a function of the rate base and the return on equity; would that not be correct? 

MR. JAMAL:  If the number is adjusted to 195, the impact would be 7 million in net income.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Now, if we could turn to the impact of Environmental Defence's alternative proposal on Toronto Hydro's rate base and net income, specifically Environmental Defence is proposing that a three-pronged alternative approach involving backing up the Windsor transformer station with new feeder ties from the Esplanade or Strachan, more CDM, and more DG.

And starting with the feeder ties, according to the Navigant study - and I believe this is at page 42 of our reference book, if you want to pull up the numbers there - backing up the Windsor station by installing feeder ties from Strachan would have a capital cost to Toronto Hydro of $33.8 million.

Is that the number that you would get?  I am deriving that with the station and distribution system upgrades of 11.4 million, plus the distribution ties of 22.4 million.

MR. SIMPSON:  We are seeking to follow your logic.  Just repeat your assumptions.

MR. ELSON:  The assumptions are that the capital cost to Toronto Hydro would be $33.8 million by backing up Windsor through Strachan and that that is $11.4 million, plus $22.4 million.  That's the middle column on page 42 of the cross-examination reference book.

Those are the capital contributions of Toronto Hydro to that work.

MR. SIMPSON:  I may be missing something, but there would likely be associated capital contributions to Hydro One's associated work.  What is your assumption for that?

MR. ELSON:  I am asking specifically about Toronto Hydro's capital contributions.  I am not including the contributions by Hydro One.

MR. SIMPSON:  No, no.  I'm saying we would owe Hydro One capital contributions for their associated work for those upgrades.

MR. ELSON:  That would be incorporated into rate base?

MR. SIMPSON:  You would have to add that to your figures.

MR. ELSON:  Would that be included in Toronto Hydro's rate base?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So the total would be $55.7 million; is that what you're saying?

MR. ODELL:  Which is shown in our evidence, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And could you calculate the impact of net income for $55.7 million?

MR. JAMAL:  Two million dollars.

MR. ELSON:  So the $2 million and the $7 million, those amounts would continue year on year and be depreciated every year; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  They would be subject to depreciation, but, yes, that is the approximate figure.

MR. ELSON:  Now I would like to turn back to tab 17 -- sorry, tab 19, and examine the impact of more CDM on Toronto Hydro's net income.  According to this table and our calculations -- I can go through them with you, but I might be able to jump over that and speed this up a bit.

Our calculation is that the total maximum one-time after-tax net income increase from the maximum amount of CDM increases would be $10 million, and that appears at page 149.  If you want, I can go through the calculations to get there, but would you have any concerns with that number?

MR. SIMPSON:  It is helpful if you describe your logic.  It is a little unclear on your sheet.

MR. ELSON:  Of course.  If you could look at the table on tab 148, this table shows the OEB-approved CDM performance incentives for overachieving on CDM.

And range 6 is the highest range, and performance incentives do not accrue for performance that exceeds 150 percent of each CDM target.

So our numbers come from that last line on that table.  Are you following?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Now, we've calculated after-tax net income in order to be able to compare with the net income from base rate, which is an after-tax figure.  So we have incorporated the marginal tax rate of 26.4 percent.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so if you apply those figures on page 149 of the cross-examination reference book, you get the totals appearing at the table therein.

MR. SIMPSON:  Understood.

MR. ELSON:  And so those were our calculations.  You end up with $13.9 million, and then you apply the tax rate and you get to $10 million net income increases from CDM incentives.  Do you follow that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So the maximum one-time net income increase would be approximately $10 million?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And unlike the base -- the net income increase of $7 million relating to the first phase of the Bremner project, the $7 million is going to continue year after year depreciated, but this $10 million is a one-time net income increase; is that correct?

MR. JAMAL:  I don't think it is fair to say that that is an increase to net income, because that doesn't consider the costs that would be incurred to achieve the results that are pointed out in the table.

MR. ELSON:  The CDM results?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  So there would be associated costs that are not considered here.

MR. ELSON:  So the number would be less than $10 million increase in net income?

MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Going back to my earlier question, the $10 million, or if that number is less than $10 million, that would be a one-time cost as opposed to a persistent -- sorry, one-time increase in net income, rather than a persistent year-after-year increase in income; is that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SIMPSON:  We don't agree with the comparison you're making.  We think it is an oversimplification.  One consideration is that the persistence of those CDM measures and the specific location of those CDM measures needs to be exact and continuous.

And that is where the comparison is not valid.  It's a difference between firm supply options and something you're forecasting, which may or may not be there in time of need.

MR. ELSON:  I'm going to move on to the impact of new CHP projects.  Under the status quo rules, new CHP projects will not increase THESL's rate base or net income.  I can go through the reasons for that, but would you agree with that statement?

MR. SIMPSON:  I think you need to expand a little bit.  Flesh that out, please.

MR. ELSON:  I will, of course.

The reasons are two-fold.  First, the OEB's rules do not allow Toronto Hydro to include CHP projects in its rate base.  And that is a Toronto Hydro response to Pollution Probe Interrogatory 12 at tab 2.

Sorry, that is at tab 4.

MR. SIMPSON:  That was IR 12 you're referring to?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. ODELL:  Would you repeat the question?

MR. ELSON:  The question is whether OEB's rules would allow Toronto Hydro to include CHP projects in its rate base, and my understanding is that the answer to that question is no.

And I am asking if you would agree that the rules do not allow Toronto Hydro to include CHP projects in its rate base.

MR. SIMPSON:  The regulations do not preclude Toronto Hydro from owning CHP, but it's fair to say that its investments in CHP would not be recovered from rate base.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

And secondly, according to the Board's Distribution System Code, a CHP generator must reimburse Toronto Hydro for its full capital costs of connecting the CHP generator to its distribution grid, and therefore new CHP projects won't lead to a rise in Toronto Hydro's rate base or net income in relation to those connection charges?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, under the current arrangements.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  We have no further questions.

MS. HARE:  I'm a little bit troubled by that last line of questioning, because I hope from the answers you're not going to then imply that their motivation is to build rate base, because that isn't what I heard them say.

So maybe you should put the question to them, if that is going to be your argument.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  My understanding, from what we've heard so far and from our table, is that under the existing rules the proposed Bremner station will lead to a greater increase in Toronto Hydro's net income over the next 30 years than Environmental Defence's proposed options to meet our electricity needs.

Would you agree with that?

MR. ODELL:  I think the table that you indicated doesn't necessarily show us Environmental Defence's proposed options to the Bremner transformer station.  I thought it was just a hypothetical assessment of where CDM could go in the future.

Nowhere in this evidence do I see a specific alternative to the Bremner transformer station.  So the A/B comparison isn't explicit here.

MR. ELSON:  Well, perhaps we should do a comparison between hypothetical alternatives, because I am not at this point trying to make the point that that would be an adequate alternative.

The point I am trying to make is that if we were to instead back up Windsor by new feeder ties from Esplanade or Strachan, and implement more CDM and more DG, that the increase in rate base would be less than building the Bremner transformer station.

I believe the magnitude of difference between them is significant.  Although there's difficulty in calculating the exact figures, I believe you would agree that the Bremner transformer station would result in a greater increase to net income.

MR. SIMPSON:  Again, we disagree with your comparison.  It's apples and acorns, you know.

What you have outlined doesn't satisfy the area needs.  We have put forward Bremner to satisfy a number of area needs.

From what you described, we don't think that is a fair comparison, the table you are describing.

MR. ELSON:  I am not trying at this point -- I am not asking you to say that that is an adequate alternative.  I am asking about the impact on net income, which is an apples-to-apples comparison between what we have suggested here as a possible alternative.  I am not asking you to agree that that alternative would satisfy the requirements.

I am asking you to compare the net income of that three-pronged alternative and the Bremner station and the impact on net income.

MR. SIMPSON:  You have not laid out the costs and adequate information to judge those.

You have one dimension of your proposal in your cross-exam here.  I don't see the other two.  There is inadequate information here.

MR. ELSON:  I think what we have established is that the maximum CDM, the maximum net income increase resulting from CDM would be a one-time $10 million increase in net income.

For CHP, there would not be an increase in net income, because CHP connections must be funded by the generator.

And for feeder ties, I believe we've calculated a specific net income impact.

I would just like to compare that to the net income impact of the Bremner station, which, on the evidence, is quite significant.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  I think your oversimplifying the CDM, as an example.

If you are looking over a 25-year period, you would probably have to reinvest in CDM measures because of persistence, and more accurately the lack of persistence.

So you may have to continue to invest in CDM over that same period, and you have not illustrated any of that impact.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. JAMAL:  I would also like to add that Toronto Hydro has actively pursued CDM programs from the outset, by the third tranche program and OPA CDM activities.

The regulated return is a return on investment as prescribed by the OEB, and Toronto Hydro, in return, is not one of the factors in building the Bremner transformer station.

As the gentlemen to my right have described, the needs, urgency and prudence of the station, those are the drivers for Bremner, the Bremner project.

MR. ELSON:  So in terms of net income impact, I am understanding your evidence is that it is difficult to calculate that right now, so I will have no further questions on that point.  And thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, I think you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  With great trepidation, I just wanted to ask a follow-up question about that.

Is it right that generally, in principle, if Toronto Hydro invests in rate base, your net income impact is higher over the long term than if you invest in CDM?  Is that generally true?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. JAMAL:  As a broad-brush answer, I would say that is generally true.  It all depends on the type of CDM programs but, historically speaking, you are correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, that wasn't part of my cross, and I am counting that as Mr. Elson's time.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  He left you with a few minutes.

[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a very rough and ready compendium of documents, which I think has been provided to the panel.

MR. MILLAR:  We will mark that as Exhibit K7.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  SEC COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS.

MS. SPOEL:  Is this the one that the front page is "Toronto Hydro Electric system Interrogatory No. 2 -–"

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I expect to be between 20 and 30 minutes.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, how long?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I expect to be between 20 and 30 minutes.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to start by asking Mr. Shlatz a question with respect to a study.

You did a study for this proceeding that basically was an independent review of the various proposals of Toronto Hydro, including Bremner; right?

MR. SHLATZ:  That's a fair characterization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you also -- I heard you say yesterday in 2009 you did a study of what the options were for the downtown issues that we're talking about today, and your recommendation was to build Bremner; right?

MR. SHLATZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am not sure I understand.  You must have said 20 times yesterday that your study for this proceeding was independent.  I am not sure I understand how it was independent if it was -- you were reviewing your own recommendation from the previous study.

MR. SHLATZ:  Each study was an independent evaluation.  The 2012 update --


MS. HARE:  Mr. Shlatz, is your mic on?

MR. SHLATZ:  The green light is on.  Here we go.  I'm sorry.  I will repeat my answer.

The 2012 study was an update to the 2009 study to reflect changes in costs and other assumptions.  They were both performed as an independent evaluation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I guess what I'm asking is, the 2009 study, you were given an open-ended question:  What is the right solution to this?  You said the right solution is Bremner; right?

MR. SHLATZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that seems to me to be different from somebody else doing a piece of work, coming to a recommendation and you, as an expert, being asked to review it and say, Were they right?

That is not what happened here; right?

MR. SHLATZ:  We identified -- just for clarification, we identified a series of options.  We discussed those options with Toronto Hydro.  There's agreement on the appropriate options to evaluate, one of which was Bremner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My second sort of preliminary question in this, which is I think for the rest of the panel, is with respect to the rate impact of Bremner.

And I couldn't actually find anywhere in the evidence the calculation of the annual cost of having Bremner, once it is fully in place, but I am guessing and so I am going to ask you if I am in the right ballpark.

You've got the costs you have in this proceeding, about $195 million.  You've got another 78 or so, or 77 maybe, coming and you got 60 that you had to pay -- that you have to pay to Hydro One.  So I get a total of around $320 million, give or take.

MR. ODELL:  The 194 million is inclusive of the $60 million Hydro One contribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So the total is actually -- 272 is the total cost of having Bremner?

MR. ODELL:  Again, recognizing that the 77 million is in 2021.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the annual cost of that station for ratepayers is going to be in the order of $25 million, is that fair, depreciation, plus return, plus interest, plus PILs, somewhere in that vicinity?

MR. SEAL:  On a rough calculation basis, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't actually add that question for you, Mr. Seal, to make sure you had something to answer.

[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would be in the order of, what, a 4 or 5 percent rate increase to have Bremner?  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. ODELL:  Okay, again, there is only 195 million before the Board today.  So we're not talking about the all-in.  This is a hypothetical.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Wait a minute.  We agreed on $25 million a year as the eventual cost of this station, am I right, 4 or 5 percent?

MR. SEAL:  Based on the current revenue requirement, around 525 million, 4 percent, but that of course will increase over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It will increase?

MR. SEAL:  The revenue requirement will increase over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you were saying the rate impact.

MR. SEAL:  The revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought, No, no, no, we can't have that.

Okay.  So now I want to talk about the three reasons that you have given for building Bremner, and the first one is load.  We're going to come to that in a second.

The second one is to switch out the Windsor switchgear and replace it, and the third is for reliability purposes in the downtown core.

Am I right?  These are the same ones I talked to the OPA about yesterday.  Those are the three?

MR. SIMPSON:  There is an important piece I think you are missing, which is the new connections.  It is a physical driver for the project in addition to what you stated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The new connections being for load growth?

MR. SIMPSON:  It's not just load growth.  It is physical connections, new feeder positions, somewhere downtown.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you need new feeder positions not because of load growth, but because of something else?

MR. SIMPSON:  It is associated with load growth, but the immediate driver is new connections for new buildings under construction now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is load growth?

MR. ODELL:  Customers don't come in incremental megawatts.  They come in incremental connections.  So we need to provide the connection, which may mean a discrete feeder position.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This sounds like semantics to me.  I heard the discussion yesterday about this, and I don't understand.

You have a new office building.  That is new load; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Which requires a new connection.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  So every new customer requires a new connection of some sort; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the difficulty that I think a lot of us have with this is that it doesn't appear to be needed for load growth in this time frame.

You need it in 2017 or 2018, or something like that; right?  I mean, OPA said even later than that you need it for load growth; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  We disagree with your statement.  It is needed urgently.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For load growth?

MR. SIMPSON:  For the new connections and the new loads in this downtown area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, then I am going to ask you to turn to page -- well, start with page 1 of our materials.  This is in these -- in the evidence in this proceeding as a result of School Energy Coalition No. 21, I believe.

Just a second.  I have that reference.  School Energy Coalition No. 21, appendix A, includes the various interrogatories that Toronto Hydro asked to Hydro One in their transmission proceeding, in EB-2012-0031.  This is one of those interrogatory responses.

One of the questions you asked is:  Why you asking us to pay 100 percent of the total cost of the work you're doing for Bremner?

That is on page 1 here.  Their answer is, Well, we did the economic evaluation; there is no new load.  So because there is no new load, over the period that we do the study, there's not enough load to pay any of the capital cost.  Isn't that what their answer is?

MR. SIMPSON:  No.  You have the wrong conclusion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  The CCRA is using a conservative approach to look at what capital contribution Toronto Hydro needs to provide Hydro One to do their associated work.

It is subject to a five-year true-up based on the actual volume increase that will be seen.

So this is a conservative way to make sure we have the project funded and fully accounted in our budget, and as the volume and loads materialize over time, there will be a true-up exercise with Hydro One.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But right now, Hydro One's conclusion is there's no load here.  There is no incremental load to pay the capital costs; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, that is incorrect.  There is load growth anticipated, and a conservative way to deal with the costs is to put in the full value today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, so if you would take a look at pages 13 and 14 of our materials, this is an excerpt from the Transmission System Code, because when Hydro One does this, they're not just making it up; right?  They're actually obligated under the TSC to do a certain economic evaluation to determine how much your capital contribution is; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Which they have done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  By the way, do we have their actual calculation, because right now we just have an estimate; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That CCRA is still under development and negotiation between the two parties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they've done the economic evaluation?

MR. SIMPSON:  The preliminary work has been done, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have seen the document that is a TSC-compliant economic evaluation as far as Hydro One is concerned; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  They have outlined it to us, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you seen it?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to file it, please?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think it is appropriate to bring it to this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, normally counsel objects, but I would like to hear counsel's objection before I respond.

MS. HARE:  I would actually like to hear more of an explanation as to why it is not appropriate.

MR. SIMPSON:  The document has not been finalized; it is still under negotiation, and it's subject to Hydro One's release, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Hydro One is regulated by the Board, so I am sure you will have no problem getting Hydro One to agree, if the Board wants it.

What I am concerned with is that this economic evaluation will include an estimate of the incremental load associated with this work.  And that incremental load will be very telling in terms of whether this station is needed for load growth.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if Mr. Shepherd's question is whether the document contains an estimate of incremental load, he can ask that question.

The difficulty with production of the document, as Mr. Simpson has indicated, is it's something that is under negotiation right now between Hydro One and Toronto Hydro.  And for that reason, Toronto Hydro has a difficulty producing a document that is the subject of negotiations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, if it has to be filed in confidence, I don't think that is a problem.

But certainly the fact that it is under negotiation doesn't change whether Hydro One has already done their analysis and made a determination as to how much the amount is.

Toronto Hydro is not shy about asking this Board to order payment by the ratepayers of $60 million.  So if we're going to pay the $60 million, surely we can see the calculation that led to that number.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, again, that is not a case for production of the entirety of whatever this document is.

I've never seen it.  It's difficult for me to comment on what might be in it and how it might affect the negotiations.

Mr. Shepherd has a particular question about the load growth.  He can ask his question, but in my submission he hasn't made a case for this entire document to be produced.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, normally if there is a material fact relevant to the proceeding and it is included in an underlying source document, the Board wants to see the source document; doesn't want to just hear somebody describe it.

It seems to me we're entitled to see and the Board is entitled to see the source document that has this number.

[Board Panel confer]


MS. HARE:  The Panel is going to take a 10-minute break -- why don't we take our morning break?  It is early, but why don't we come back at 10:45?

--- Recess taken at 10:24 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 10:55 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

So before the break, we were dealing with the production of a document.  The Board will not order production of the document requested by the School Energy Coalition, because we find that the document has not been finalized, is confidential, and is not necessary for our deliberations.

The information concerning load is relevant, but we expect that this information will be provided by the witnesses based on their most current information from Hydro One.  And we are looking for the following:  The projected incremental load on the station, and the estimated revenues from the incremental load at the station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Should that be given an undertaking number?

MS. HARE:  It can be given an undertaking, unless the witnesses can provide the information now.

MR. SIMPSON:  I think an undertaking is the clearest way to handle it.

MS. HARE:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  TO PROVIDE LOAD BY YEAR AND THE REVENUE BY YEAR FOR PROJECTED LOAD, INCREMENTAL LOAD ON THE STATION, AND THE ESTIMATED REVENUES FROM THE INCREMENTAL LOAD AT THE STATION.

MS. HARE:  So projected load, incremental load on the station, and estimated incremental revenues from this load.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, can I clarify?

MS. HARE:  Yes, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The load that is needed is the load by year and the revenue by year, so that we can see when the load develops and where it develops from, is that...

MS. HARE:  I think that is fine.  That's fine, yes.

Yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I probably won't have a chance to ask any questions, cross-examine on this information, so I am going to ask some questions about it, anyway, if that is all right, even though we haven't seen it yet.  But some of the questions we don't need to see it, if that is all right.

If the witnesses can't answer the questions until the information is tabled, that's fine, but I don't want to have to ask -- to come back to ask questions that I could have asked today.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.  I will tell you my hesitation is because the information is available in a document that I think you can access fairly quickly.

So would it make more sense - I am now looking at my fellow Panel member - to actually take a break, get the document, get the information, and then you can cross-examine?  Would that make more sense?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would be happy to do that.  I just don't want to delay the proceeding.

MS. HARE:  I don't know how long it would take you to get the information.

MR. SIMPSON:  I believe we can accommodate you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then may I make a suggestion?  Rather than have a delay while we break now, is it possible for me to go on to another matter?  Can somebody else get the information, put it together, while I am still questioning these witnesses?

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass, would that be acceptable?

MR. CASS:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Yes.  Please proceed then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.

Then I will leave Hydro One for a minute.  Let me just talk about the in-service date, when you need this.

Right now, you are saying that if you are able to start construction in Q1 2013, Bremner will be in service by the end of 2014; right?

MR. ODELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not able to start construction until after your April 4th board meeting; right?

MR. ODELL:  Correction.  It is the Hydro One April 4th board meeting that we referenced in yesterday's examination in-chief.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I thought it was your board that had to --


MR. ODELL:  No.  It was the Hydro -- Hydro One is having their board meeting and addressing the state of the draft CCRA on their April 4th board, and they have indicated to us that they need assurance that there is approval from the OEB to proceed with the Bremner station project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  But, in any case, you are clearly not going to start construction January 2013; right?

MR. ODELL:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not going to start construction in January 2013?  It's February already and you don't have a decision yet.

MR. ODELL:  I think it is relatively clear in the evidence that we have commenced some of the site work related to the Bremner station in order to accelerate the 

-- or to address the lag in starting from our original application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're still anticipating that you will be able to adjust to the delays and still have it in service by December 2014?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could turn to page 4 of our materials -- no, sorry, page 9 of our materials.  This is -- I am sure you have seen this document, because you asked questions about it in the Hydro One proceeding.

This is their summary of the work that they're going to do.  This is dated May 2012.  You will see that in May 2012 they said their line was not needed until Q4 2014.

Now, at that time, as I understand it, you were filing an application saying you were expecting to have Bremner in service in Q3; right?

MR. ODELL:  Correct.  Sorry, that was May of -- yes, the plan was to have it in service in the third quarter of 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it wouldn't be in service unless their lines were in place; right?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why did they think almost a year ago that it wasn't needed until the end of the year and you thought it was needed earlier?

MR. ODELL:  I think, as my colleague Mr. Simpson has mentioned in response to your original line of questioning, Hydro One has consistently shown a conservative number for the execution of this project and the treatment of the project.

And we are in the middle of our negotiations with respect to our CCRA.  We expect improvement on schedule, as well as cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I guess I understand that, but, you know, we're in the oral hearing in this proceeding now.  And until recently you have been saying, We have to have this by Q3 2014.  But you have known for some time that they were saying Q4; right?

MR. ODELL:  We've known for some time that they had a more conservative schedule than ours and that they needed to make improvements on their execution, and we have had ongoing discussions with respect to that execution since this document was filed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, in your EB-2010-0142 application, you proposed that Bremner be in service April 2013; right?

MR. ODELL:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you settled the capital budget, reducing it from 423 down to 350.  Did that result in Bremner being deferred?

MR. ODELL:  Could you give me your reference?  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My reference to what?

MR. ODELL:  To where you're -- which line from the application are you mentioning?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not talking about the application.

MR. ODELL:  Okay, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are entered into a settlement agreement in EB-2010-0142?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.  Sorry, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your capital budget was reduced from 423 to 350; right?  Will you accept that subject to check?

MR. SIMPSON:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Seal probably remembers.

And as a result, you had to delay Bremner, right, because you no longer had room in your budget?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ODELL:  You're talking about the 2010 application?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. ODELL:  In the 2010 application, the work that was planned for that period commenced along -- as described in that year's application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then I don't understand.  You told the Board in that application that Bremner would be in service April 2013.  Now you're telling the Board it is December 2014.

What happened between then and now?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, I guess the simple answer is we haven't got OEB approval for the full project.  And that explains the difference in the dates and the schedule revisions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, was it in your capital budget in 2010-0142?

MR. SIMPSON:  We will need to check that, but the project has been under consideration for a long development time here, and the need has been stated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask this is because if you read the 0142 application, the description of why you needed it and the urgency are essentially identical to the current application.

So I am not -- I don't understand why, if it was urgent then, it isn't already coming online in two months.

MR. JAMAL:  I believe some of the costs from Bremner were in the 2010 budget, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I don't think that answered my question.

I don't understand why it was delayed.  If it was urgent, why isn't it built?

MR. ODELL:  The reason it has not been -- the project did not proceed at the rate described in the 2010 application was because our subsequent applications have not yet been heard, and the requirement -- we felt it would be imprudent to make this large, significant capital contribution without assurance of Board support for the funding of the project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  See, the difficulty I have with that is that the application we're talking about had 2010 spending, but you spent money on this in 2011?  On Bremner?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How much?

MR. ODELL:  Bear with me.  10.4 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why --


MR. JAMAL:  Sorry.  No, we actually spent 5.4 million in 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what I am trying to understand is if you were trying to get it on line in April 2013, then in 2011, before your 2012 application was filed, you should have been spending more money.  And you didn't, and the reason was because you delayed the project; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  We disagree with your line of reasoning there.

It is a major project.  We did the development and engineering work that was appropriate.

We can't proceed without the full OEB support for the main project.

MR. ODELL:  Perhaps I should describe some of the activities that took place through 2011 and 2012.

The majority of the time spent in 2011, and as described in the previous applications, was the work to be commenced on detailed design for the project.  And at the end of 2011 we had a complete detailed design, which is described in our evidence with respect to the number of specifications, drawings, et cetera, related to the scope of this project.

So 2011 was very focussed on all of the elements of detailed design.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you there.

The work you did in 2011 was insufficient to have it in service by April 2013; right?  You couldn't have brought it in service by April 2013 as of December 31st, 2011; right?

MR. ODELL:  In hindsight, I would say you are correct.  We could not have brought it into service by 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's good.  Let me ask another related question about this.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, could Mr. Odell be permitted to finish the answer that he was interrupted in the course of?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask anything about spending in 2012, so he can tell us --


MS. HARE:  No, but if Mr. Odell has more to add, I would be happy to hear it.

MR. ODELL:  As well, in 2011 we commenced our environmental site assessment with the Ontario government, and the application for specific permits with the City of Toronto.

That has become a relatively long and drawn out process, particularly as it relates to the environmental site assessment, which was finally achieved in April of 2012.

So we could not commence construction until we had those permits in hand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you didn't anticipate that at the time that you originally planned to have it in April 2013?

MR. ODELL:  We did not anticipate that there would be significant delays in achieving the environmental site assessment.

What we had was some interruption with respect to the possibility of a part 2 order, and what we call a bump-up request.  And what was anticipated to be about a three-month process ended up being about a nine-month process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The primary reason -- well, let me back up a stage.

Is the EB-2010-0142 decision the first time that you had an actual plan for a particular in-service date for Bremner?  Prior to that, you had looked at the project but you hadn't actually said:  Okay, now we're going to do it?

MR. SIMPSON:  I think we will have to review the previous filings to answer that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked at all of them and I couldn't find any reference to it.

But feel free --


MR. SIMPSON:  Perhaps allow us to look.

MR. ODELL:  The key point about the 2010 filing is the project scope was really an order of magnitude scope, based upon some concept development that we had done with our consultant at the time.

So there were many unknowns, as far as the execution was -- as far as execution, as well as the scope of the project.

And over 2011, we found that we had a much more complex project than we originally anticipated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, also the budget went up; right?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  One of the things that I saw in that, in that application, the EB-2010-0142 application, was you said that Hydro One acquired the Bremner site.

But I thought in this application you said that you owned it.  Did you acquire it from Hydro One?

MR. ODELL:  Yes, we acquired it.  Hydro One had options on the land, and they exercised those options and then we purchased the property from Hydro One.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When was that?

MR. ODELL:  2010.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2010?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was that always the intention, that you would purchase it from them?  Or was it originally the intention that they would build it?

MR. ODELL:  Originally -- and if you refer to the evidence in response to some of the OEB Staff interrogatories -- Hydro One had -- and Ontario Hydro before them had intended to build a transformer station at the Roundhouse, the John Street Roundhouse site.

Then in the 2006 time frame found that Toronto Hydro was better equipped to move forward with the station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they exercised their option?

MR. ODELL:  We didn't have the option.  They had the option.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so they exercised it in order to sell it to you?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  I see.  Okay.  All right.

MS. HARE:  I would like to interject for a second, because there was a little discussion about when was the first time an actual date was given.

And the witnesses said that they would check.  Mr. Shepherd, you said you did check and didn't find anything.

Did you want to take an undertaking and check?  Or are you willing to accept what Mr. Shepherd said, which is that it wasn't in evidence?

MR. ODELL:  We will take that undertaking, just to confirm.

MS. HARE:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.2:  to CONFIRM WHEN A PARTICULAR IN-SERVICE DATE FOR BREMNER WAS PLANNED.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just still on this question of the urgency of the timing, I wonder if you could turn to page 7 of our materials.  This is an excerpt from your EB-2011-0144 application.

That was a three-year cost of service application, and it included a capital budget for the years 2012 through 2014, the same years that are the subject of this application.

I am just -- this is an excerpt from that, and talks about the TS switchgear replacements for that period.  And none of them are Windsor.


And so now -- but now you're saying -- and your current application has one of the Windsor switch-outs happening next year; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  The updated evidence in this filing shows preparation work for Windsor TS switchgear in year 2014, and it is fair to say it was not on this original list.

We continued to revise our assessments of the equipment, and which one is bubbling to the top in urgency, and Windsor is definitely in that top list.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Switchgear replacements are a regular part of your capital budget every year; right?

I looked back to, like, four different applications; they're in every one.  It is pretty normal; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sure.  And Windsor switchgear is end-of-life, and its time is now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first time we have seen it on the list to be fixed is this current application; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I would disagree.  If we looked carefully at some of the 10-year plans that were submitted under other filings, you would likely see Windsor switchgear in the 2015, '16 horizons.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what happened to move it to 2014?

MR. SIMPSON:  That equipment is obsolete.  It is challenging to get the parts.  It's going to be a problem for reliability in that area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but let me understand.

It was obsolete last year and it was obsolete the year before.  It was a problem to get parts last year and the year before, and there was a risk of failure; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Our most recent condition assessments show that probably we're at increasing risk for the Windsor station.

I would like to share an example with you of the type of failure that we're exposed to.  There was an oil circuit breaker that failed at Hydro One's Manby facility in -- July 5th of 2010.  This is a key supply point for Toronto, of course feeding Windsor.  That failure involved 117,000 customers with a load loss of 700 MVA and a duration of almost 24 hours.

So when we have -- when we encounter a failure at a station, it is a high impact and a large disruption to business in that area.  We've also had a recent --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Let me just stop you on that example.  I'm not sure I understand how that's responsive to my question.

A, I sort of understand that, yes, there are risks that there will be increasing load on Windsor because of external factors, but you're talking about an incident that happened July 5th, 2010, and I don't see how that is an explanation for moving up Windsor switchouts between the last application and this one, because you knew that --


MR. SIMPSON:  I can give you a more recent example, Mr. Shepherd.  In the latter part of 2012, we had a breaker failure at George and Duke, this breaker failure which cascaded to the bus, and this involved 34,000 customers, a load loss of almost 50 MVA, and the duration of that outage was eight hours.

So this older class of equipment is encountering problems, and that's what we're trying to address with the Windsor switchgear upgrades planned for 2014, beginning 2015 starting those lineups.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the air blast switchgear; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am looking at page 7 of our materials, and you've got two Wiltshire and one Carlaw air blast being switched out?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  Your evidence is the material from the 2011 filing, and it has been updated for this 2012 filing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.

So let me approach this a different way, because I'm not making any headway.  Have you had any specific failures at Windsor?

MR. SIMPSON:  In the recent history, no equipment failures at the Windsor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Has anything else happened at Windsor to cause you to believe that the risk of failure has increased?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  It's the general aging of the equipment.  It is very heavily loaded, and those are two conditions which are going to increase the risk of failure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's a difference, a quantitative difference, between last year and this year, but not a qualitative difference.

It is the same situation.  They were still put in in 1950, no matter how you look at it; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  They were puts in in the '50s, and that Windsor switchgear work is planned for 2014, 2015, and in fact through 2016 and 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me move on.

Let me turn to the Esplanade option.  And as I understand it, Hydro One has proposed to you - you can turn to page 4 of our materials - that instead of building Bremner, what you might want to consider is upgrade Esplanade and connect John to Esplanade through the existing -- or connect to the existing 115 kV circuits; right?  They suggested that to you already?

MR. ODELL:  I would like to -- and we had a break after the first reference to the THESL interrogatories to Hydro One.  I would like to characterize all of the interrogatories that we provided to them in their latest application.

All of them were associated with our concern about the prudence and effect on Toronto Hydro ratepayers with respect to their plan to move forward with the Bremner line connection.

So the nature of that question is:  Have other alternatives for the Bremner line connection been provided?  The intent was to ask them about the configuration of that connection and possible alternatives.

They responded with the number of other alternatives to the construction of the Bremner station in its current state, and, yes, these alternatives have been discussed, but many of them not formally.  They were purely in the early stages of the dialogue on next steps for downtown electrical supply.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they have said that there are alternatives, and one of them is there's existing 115 kV circuits, upgrade Esplanade, connect to them, problem solved; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I think you're characterizing -- or you are oversimplifying.  Each of those alternatives need to be looked at in detail from a time perspective, feasibility, overall costs.

These are possible options which were reviewed to some extent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, what they say is that the reason you didn't do those is because you couldn't do them fast enough; right?

MR. ODELL:  Which option would you like to reference?  I think the one you referenced is the Esplanade TS --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. ODELL:  -- and connection to John to Esplanade.  That option is in our evidence.  And that option we have shown will not meet our time lines, and that is what their reference is with respect to this.

So they're basically repeating what is in our evidence today, that we have indicated that the Esplanade option has a timing problem with respect to our 2014 availability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And so if I understand correctly, Esplanade -- the Esplanade option might be a good option; right?  It might be, but you can't build it fast enough?

MR. ODELL:  I would characterize the Esplanade option as an option that is worthy of review in the context of looking at our present value analysis.

However, there are many issues with the Esplanade option that we can go into now, if you'd like, but specifically using Esplanade as the means of addressing core load growth, as well as the offloading the Windsor station, essentially robs Peter to pay Paul because of the significant amount of development to the east of the downtown that needs to be served from Esplanade in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's just park load growth for a second, because we're going to get back to load growth in just one minute.

Right now, we're talking about an urgency issue.  This is a timing question.  You want this done by the end of next year.  And, as I understand it, the only reason that you provided to the Board for doing that is you want to switch out the switchgear on Windsor.  That's the reason why you want it done now, because you don't need it for load growth now; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  We disagree.  One of the main reasons is to address reliability at Windsor and offload the busses there, but we also need to accommodate new growth, organic growth, in that downtown area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not in 2014.

MR. SIMPSON:  It's a pressing need when you look at the bus loading.  I would like to explain that further.

When we load station busses that heavily, it reduces the flexibility we have to respond when there are problems.  And so there's more considerations than just seeing, you know, a percentage loading on the bus.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not because you have more load.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, could the witness please be permitted to finish answers before being interrupted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I thought he was finished.  Were you not finished?

MR. SIMPSON:  I encourage you to read our evidence, and you will see there are three main drivers for the Bremner station and they remain.  It is reliability, growth and connections.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sir, you don't need me -- you don't need to encourage me to read your evidence, trust me.

Let me come back to the key question here, which is I haven't heard any evidence yet -- and you can point me to it.  Maybe I missed it.  I haven't heard any evidence yet that you have a load problem in 2014.  In fact, we heard OPA, when I suggested 2017, saying, No, no, no, later than that.

So where is the load problem in 2014?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SIMPSON:  The OPA reference you stated is looking at transmission supply and the timing for some of those needs.

We are talking about a distribution supply problem with the high growth rates and the new loads and new connections that are appearing in that downtown area.

We cannot serve any longer from Windsor.  There is no more capacity there, and the positions are used up.

So that is part of the problem that Bremner will address in getting those new loads connected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The cost of the -- let's just focus solely on the need to provide redundancy so that you can replace switchgear at Windsor.  Just let's fix -- deal solely with that issue.  Okay?

You can solve that problem by adding feeders to Esplanade at a cost of, I think I heard you say yesterday, about $20 million, plus some station upgrades at Esplanade; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I think that figure is a bit low.  That might be the raw cost of some feeders, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  16 feeders.

MR. SIMPSON:  We would have to look carefully at the costs and the associated station upgrades on each end of those feeders.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  But it is your evidence from yesterday.  $20 million, plus a station upgrade at Esplanade; right?

MR. ODELL:  That was in response to a question looking at the per-feeder assessment that came from the Navigant report, and just asking how many feeders are we talking about.

So it was just direct -- a direct pull from the cost per feeder.  It wasn't the overall cost for the entire Esplanade station upgrade in order to provide the supply to the Windsor station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Please.

Yesterday you quoted a number of $67.3 million for 48 feeders from Esplanade to Windsor.  It is in the transcript.

MR. ODELL:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then asked:  Well, what if it was only the 16 you need for the work on the switchgear?  You said 20 million.

Is that now not true?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Shepherd, I think -- through you, Madam Chair, we have a different recollection of the evidence.  You are putting a version of the evidence to the witnesses that is not my recollection.

I recall them being specifically asked about costs of feeders, which is what they're responding to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Odell?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 148 of the transcript.  I am reading to you --


MS. HARE:  Just give us a second, please, to get it.

MR. ODELL:  Yes, we're with you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Elson asks:

"And what would be the cost of 16 feeders between Windsor and Esplanade?"

And your answer is:

"Approximately $20 million for the feeder upgrades, but that doesn't include the work associated with the station upgrades at Esplanade."

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is what I just said; right?

MR. ODELL:  And that's just what I said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you just said that; right?  So how much is the station upgrade work at Esplanade?  Ballpark?

MR. ODELL:  $146 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that work has to be done immediately in order to -- for the solution to work?

MR. ODELL:  That work has to be done immediately for the first 16 feeders in order for that solution to work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The Esplanade option is a full solution to your Windsor problem; right?

MR. ODELL:  The Esplanade option would be a full solution to the Windsor problem, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if you eventually built Bremner, that wouldn't be wasted; right?  Because part of your long-term plan is to connect all these stations anyway; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  There is another consideration, and that is what Mr. Odell stated earlier.

Apart from the cost considerations here, we need to preserve some capacity at Esplanade to serve Esplanade area loads; in particular, there is heightened growth in the waterfront area and the film studio district.

And we see that as a major requirement and we will need capacity at Esplanade to handle that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not sure I understand how that's responsive.

I asked:  Is the money -- if you implement the Esplanade option today, is that money wasted?  The answer is no; right?

MR. ODELL:  The answer is not no; the answer is that the Esplanade option for support of the first Windsor bus and subsequent buses thereafter would require civil infrastructure that obviously would be designed only for that purpose.

Yes, that civil infrastructure could possibly be redeployed, but if you wanted it to happen that way, you would have to design in that future civil infrastructure for some possible future, once Bremner came online in the latter stages or the -- some other alternative scenario.

So there would be some civil infrastructure that would be valuable, but there is no question that it would be high-cost, and would not meet our timelines with respect to executing the Windsor offload.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me ask you -- since we're talking about technical stuff, let me ask you another technical question, which I won't understand.

On page 2 of our materials, there is a -- the question is asked:  How will the Bremner line connection impact the current transfer capability between John and Esplanade?

And it appears that their answer is, if you do this the way you have planned, there will be a reduction in transfer capability between John and Esplanade.

Is that -- can you explain what that means?  Because that sounds like a bad thing.

MR. SIMPSON:  The existing line, my memory, is about a 2,000 kcmil cable between those points.

So if we take off 100, 200 megawatts, that does reduce the capability of that line between those two areas, but it also provides different flexibility, as OPA explained earlier.

That flexibility has regional benefits, which OPA was outlining, and so there are many considerations for that connection point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the additional flexibility we heard about yesterday is a good thing, but then there is an associated bad thing, and that is that your through-transfer capability is reduced?

MR. SIMPSON:  I wouldn't characterize it as "a bad thing."

It is a reality, and it allows that finer allocation of load to different supply points, and that's the system flexibility advantage.

MR. ODELL:  So it is a consequence of the flexibility that OPA discussed in their evidence yesterday.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me ask you one other sort of side question relating to the switchgear.

We have been talking about you needing either 72 or 86 MVA to switch out each bus or each air-blast switchgear at Windsor; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Approximately 72 MVA bus, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I read in your load forecast, in fact, that in 2013 -- no, sorry, 2014, you're only planning to shift 55 MVA to Bremner.

So I'm not sure I understand how, if you need 72, you are only shifting 55.  What's that about?

MR. SIMPSON:  The initial bus replacement deals with A56, which is loaded at approximately that 50 MVA level.  It serves network load in the downtown, which is separate from the radial feeders.

So the nature of that load means that it has to be transferred in a block, and it will be transferred to the A1516 bus first.  All the feeders associated with A1516 will route to Windsor -- sorry, to Bremner for that purpose.

So because space is at a premium at Windsor, we have to take a line out of service before we replace it.  We need to maintain that 72 MVA for the tic-tac-toe within Windsor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so I guess what I am wondering is, if what you're moving to another station is 55 -- which is what, about 45 megawatts, give or take?

MR. SIMPSON:  Approximately.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I'm thinking the amount that you need to address is actually less than we have been talking about?

MR. SIMPSON:  I disagree.  Because we need to make intra-station transfers at Windsor, we need to have at least 72 MVA free to take each of the six lineups over the next few years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have to have one bus free, in effect?

MR. SIMPSON:  With the capability for 72 MVA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but to make -- to free up that bus, you are proposing to transfer only 55 to Bremner; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That value will evolve over the years of the Windsor upgrade -- replacement of switchgear, rather, and so it may be 55 in one year and 70 the next year, 72.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But for the purposes of this particular application, a 45 megawatt solution, a 55 MVA solution, is what you need for 2014?

MR. SIMPSON:  I think you are simplifying a little bit too much there.  We need that firm MVA capacity for the flexibility and the transfers, and it is not as simple as providing 45 meg.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Subject to the undertaking response that I am waiting for, the only other area I have to ask about is CDM, and I just have a couple of questions about this.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Shepherd, how long do you think you are going to be?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not more than ten minutes, maybe even five.  Is that okay?

MS. HARE:  Mm-hm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If I understand your discussion yesterday with Mr. Elson -- and I am not going to plow that field again.  I just want to make sure I am clear on it.

Basically, your forecast of load going forward is based on the assumption the future is going to be roughly the same as the past.  So you're forecasting load using the past trend line to forecast the future; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I would like to elaborate on that.

The ten-year station bus forecast that we use looks at the preceding five-year period, and that preceding five-year period has inherent in it all of the CDM achievements within that period and the growth in that area.  And that comes out as the net or the actual for that five-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Precisely.  So --


MR. SIMPSON:  In that regard --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.

MR. SIMPSON:  -- the forecast for the next five years infers that the same rate of CDM will carry on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so that forecast, then, doesn't assume any traction from the new licence conditions you have, for example, because you would have only included a very small amount of that in the past data; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  You'll have to elaborate.  You're referring, perhaps, to our obligation to deliver CDM?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't see how that bears here.

What I have explained to you is that the CDM results within the last five-year period are reflected in our forecast going forward, along with the growth that has been experienced the last five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me put the question to you differently.

If you are able to achieve incremental CDM after that five-year period, that's not reflected.  Your assumption going forward, your operational assumption, is there will be no incremental CDM at a higher rate than prior years; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah, that is accurate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so -- and you only will put in place an adjustment for CDM if you have an existing approved program that is funded; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I need to explain that forecast to you once more.  So the very active CDM programs that Toronto Hydro has in place currently are reflected in that five-year historical information, and, in fact, the go-forward five years reflects that pace of CDM and that involvement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a trend line; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And so if you have --


MR. CASS:  I don't think the witness was finished, Madam Chair.

MR. SIMPSON:  The point I wish to make is that our review of the data is that no amount of CDM increase can defer the need for Bremner for the various reasons we put forth in evidence.

So it is not -- if you could accelerate it 50 percent or 100 percent, it is not going to get there in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a timing question.  It is not a technical issue.  If you were able to magically achieve 100 megawatts of additional downtown CDM tomorrow, problem solved; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I disagree.  That doesn't account for the new growth and the new connections which need new feeder positions at Bremner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to page -- sorry, page 10 of our materials.  This is the letter that went with the filing of Toronto Hydro's 2011 CDM annual report.

And the key fact here that is set out is that Toronto Hydro is reporting that it will be 90 megawatts short as of the end of 2014 on its CDM targets.  Do you see that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you had met the -- if you were able to meet the CDM targets as of the end of 2014, do I take it that there would be some impact on your calculations of need in the downtown core, some impact?

MR. SIMPSON:  Our view is the impact would be very small.  The nature of the load in that downtown core is that many of the office buildings and high commercial load have already seen their efficiency measures and CDM work go in place.

So it is already reflected in the net load in that area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you got that 90 megawatts, it wouldn't be down there?

MR. SIMPSON:  It is highly unlikely it would be in the core.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Madam Chair, that is my cross, except for the undertaking item.  I don't know what the status of that is.

MR. CASS:  Ms. Klein left the room to find out what is happening with that, Madam Chair.  I can't say anything more than that.  When she returns, she will be able to tell us.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.  We will proceed to Mr. Millar, then.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good morning, panel.

MR. ODELL:  Good morning.

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to start, if I could, just with a status update on the project.  Mr. Shepherd took you through the current projected in-service dates.  I want to make sure that we have the right figure on the cost, that there haven't been any additional updates.

There are actually a couple of figures that float around in the prefiled evidence.  You don't necessarily need to turn it up.  On page 6 of schedule B17, it says 184.1 million, but then if you look in tab 5, the figure seems to be closer to about 195 million.

So rather than going through all that, I'm wondering if you can just tell me what the current best estimate is for the total cost of this facility for the portions that will go into service for 2014.


MR. ODELL:  Okay.  The difference that you have described is the difference between the 194.9 that you have before you, which takes into account the spend that has already occurred in 2010 and 2011.  So that is the differential.  What is ahead of you for 2012, 2013, 2014 is 184.1.

MR. MIKHAIL:  184.1.  So just to be clear, that is the amount of money you're seeking to recover through this application, 184.1?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MIKHAIL:  That is the best current estimate?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Again, Mr. Shepherd confirmed you have an in-service target date of December 2014?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

I would like to take you through a couple of things discussing the location of this site and some of the potential alternatives.

The best place to go -- and I didn't make a compendium, but I am referring exclusively to matters in schedule B17.

A good place to start here might be in appendix B to schedule B17.  There is no page numbers on these, unfortunately, but...

MR. ODELL:  Appendix 2 is load growth?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  Sorry, appendix 5.

MR. ODELL:  Appendix 5.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe if we could just flip one page in, you see a nice map of the facility down there.

So I would just like to discuss some of the pros and cons of this particular site where you are proposing to put the facility.

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we have heard, in fairness to you, both the pros and cons, but as a high-level overview, I think what I heard you say, and is reflected in the evidence, is that the location is pretty much exactly where you would want it; is that fair?

MR. ODELL:  Yes, it is ideal.

MR. MILLAR:  The reason for that is it is close to existing load, and it is close to existing -- pardon me, the expected load growth?  Is that correct?

MR. ODELL:  It is close to the existing load, the existing load growth.  It is close proximity to the Windsor transformer station, which obviously has been a significant focus of our reliability efforts.

And there is existing civil infrastructure to enable the tie to the Windsor station for the 16 feeders, to offload that first station bus of the progression of six station buses that will be replaced.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So if you had a blank map of the city and there were no site constraints whatsoever, this would be more or less where you would put the site.  It is an ideal location?

MR. ODELL:  Yes, although I cannot imagine the City of Toronto without site constraints.

MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.  We will talk about those, because I think, in fairness to you, your evidence does reflect there are certain challenges associated with this site; is that fair?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  One of the big challenges is that there is a building there; would that be fair?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And not just an ordinary building.  It is, in fact, a heritage designated building.

MR. ODELL:  A 1928 heritage roundhouse.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And because of that, you're going to have to do a fair amount of extra work to work with this site; is that fair?

MR. ODELL:  Well, I don't know how I would characterize "extra."

If you have to have a baseline, if we were talking about a greenfield site, there is a fair amount of extra work compared to a greenfield site.

There are elements of this site that are unusual, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So whatever the baseline, there are some unusual features.  There's the machine shop, that I understand, because this is a heritage building, you're going to have to take that apart brick by brick and then rebuild it brick by brick after you're done the work; is that right?

MR. ODELL:  We need to restore the machine shop so that its exterior appearance is essentially identical to its current appearance.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are also -- because of some of the constraints on the site, the station is largely going to be built underground; is that correct?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, that's fairly unusual; right?  I understand there are only a couple of examples of that worldwide, where you have an underground transformer station?

MR. ODELL:  I think we have indicated in the evidence there are several underground locations, and it is becoming more of a norm in highly dense urban areas.  And Toronto is becoming one of the most dense urban areas not just in the western world, but worldwide.

So the idea of locating transformer stations in subterranean facilities is become much more common.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, fair enough, but it is not unique.  But I think you give something like five examples?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  There must be tens if not hundreds of thousands of transformer stations in the world.  It might be millions.

MR. ODELL:  Yes.  But we're talking about recently constructed transformer stations in dense urban areas.

MR. MILLAR:  You'd agree with me putting it underground imposes additional costs; is that fair?

MR. ODELL:  Well, again, I would have to compare it to the baseline, but yes, there are costs associated with being -- yes, there are costs associated it with it being underground.

MR. MILLAR:  So, again, if our baseline is an above-ground station, you would agree with me it is more expensive to build underground?

MR. ODELL:  Yes, no question.

MR. MILLAR:  There are a couple of reasons for that.  I think I heard one of the witnesses say this.  First, you are very close to the lake there; is that correct?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The water table is probably pretty high at that location?

MR. ODELL:  The water table is, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Indeed, that land is all fill, if I am not mistaken; is it?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So I heard someone use the analogy it is like building a giant concrete bathtub you're building in this --


MR. ODELL:  Yes, exactly.

MR. MILLAR:  Except it is a reverse bathtub.  It is to keep the water out, not in?

MR. ODELL:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And that costs some money?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Even with that, I assume there is a greater potential for flooding; would that be fair?

MR. ODELL:  The constraint or the design element to ensure that it is treated essentially like a bathtub, there are no penetrations in the concrete shell of the basement, are some of the mitigating factors we have put in place for potential for flooding.  Obviously, there are some bumps and other elements that are there, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Despite that, there would still be a greater risk of flooding here than an above-ground site; is that fair?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.  And we're putting mitigating factors in place to avoid that.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.

Do I understand there is also some ventilation associated with an underground site?  Or blast protection?  I might have the terms wrong, but...

MR. ODELL:  Okay.  We have to characterize the different aspects.

From a ventilation perspective - obviously all stations need to be ventilated - if it is underground, we cannot rely on natural ventilation for something like an oil-filled transformer.

So yes, there are ventilation requirements for the cooling of the transformer and switchgear equipment.

Beyond that, with respect to the potential for faults, there are certain structural constraints that need to be put in place.  As well as the containment of SF6 gas; there are some specific ventilation requirements for the treatment of SF6.

MR. MILLAR:  That is helpful.  Thank you.

Could I ask you to turn -- again, these aren't numbered, but in the same appendix if you flip in about eight or nine pages, there is a section 5.0 and there is a table 2 there.

MR. ODELL:  Table 2?

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Yes.

MR. ODELL:  "Comparison of costs for options"?

MR. MILLAR:  Exactly.

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Just so we know what we're looking at here, option A is, in fact, the proposal you put forward to the Board?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's where we see the $134.5 million at the bottom?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that excludes the capital contribution to Hydro One, which is $60 million?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I recognize there are some difficulties in determining what the baseline case would be, so this may be a very rough exercise, but I kind of want to get a handle on -- when we talk increased costs for going underground and increased costs associated with the heritage site, I would like to get, if we can, a type of ballpark figure as to how much additional costs that imposes.

So what I propose to do is sort of go through this quickly, and maybe you can give me an indication as to what level of this cost is caused by the unusual site.

MR. ODELL:  I –- we'll proceed with the exercise.  I think that is valuable, but I think subject to some review to make sure that we've got all of the numbers characterized.

MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.  And I recognize we're not going to get exact numbers here.  I just want to kind of get an order of magnitude idea.

Let's leave land acquisition out.  I guess any site will have a cost to it.  Although I should ask, I suppose, would this site, because of the constraints on it, be cheaper than a -- there is no such thing as a greenfield site there, I assume, but, for example, an industrial site or something like that?

MR. ODELL:  That's a very good question.  The land acquisition cost for the Bremner transformer station was 5.6 million in 2010.  There was a recent article, I think in the Globe and Mail - unfortunately I can't give you the reference - with respect to casino locations.

And the per-acre cost of our purchase is -- sorry, the 5.6 million is 1.14 acres.

An acre in the Portlands is about a million dollars.  An acre around Exhibition Place is $12 million.

So an acre of land at the base of the CN Tower, without constraints, would be substantially more than $5.6 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Distribution modification.  Do the site constraints affect that number?  Again, I am just looking directionally.

MR. ODELL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  So that would be about the same, no matter where you built it?  Again?

MR. ODELL:  In the downtown, it's distribution modification of the downtown to connect to the station.  So anywhere in the downtown would have similar costs.

MR. MILLAR:  Procurement of major equipment?  I understand you have to use gas-filled somethings.

MR. ODELL:  It should be illustrated for this exercise that we, in order to run through this exercise, we utilized exactly the same configuration.  So we used gas-insulated transformers and gas-insulated switchgear in both option A and option B.

MR. MILLAR:  But option B was -- no, that's right.  Option B was above ground; right?

MR. ODELL:  Option B is above ground, but still utilized the gas-insulated transformers.

MR. MILLAR:  Detailed design and construction PM, again, I am not looking for the differences between option A and option B.  I am looking for differences between option A and a site downtown where you didn't have to build underground and take apart a heritage building.  Would those costs be more or less the same?

MR. ODELL:  They would be more or less -- more or less the same.  What was being illustrated here is that at this juncture, the option B had not seen detailed design.  There was quite a bit of additional detailed design that would be required.

MR. MILLAR:  Now we go down a little.  Machine shop disassembly, reassembly.  Obviously you would not have to do that if there was no machine shop there; is that fair?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.  And the right-hand side is essentially an allowance for some facility that would need to be built to accommodate the same equipment that is placed in the machine shop.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, that option B is the option you discuss on the pages previous, where you use the same Bremner site.  You just build a tall building to put it in; is that right?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, that is not the baseline I am discussing.  I am talking about imagine there was a site next door that you didn't have to build underground and move the machine shop.

MR. ODELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Shoring and excavation, I assume that is impacted by going underground; is that right?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Could we use 10 million as a --


MR. ODELL:  Option B would still require a significant amount of excavation and --


MR. MILLAR:  Again, I don't want to use option B as the baseline.  I am going to take you to a couple of the sites you did look at, some of which you may or may not have to build underground.  You may disagree with me, but, again, I'm talking about a theoretical site that is in more or less the same area.

MR. ODELL:  With respect to shoring and excavation, please phrase it as a question and I will --


MR. MILLAR:  The question is:  In my theoretical site where you don't have to go underground and you don't have to take apart a machine shop and reassemble it, would the shoring and excavation costs be the same or less, or more for that matter?

MR. ODELL:  They would be lower.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you give an order of magnitude?

MR. ODELL:  I think you could use this --


MR. MILLAR:  Would 10 million be a fair number?

MR. ODELL:  The difference between these two are 6.7 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I recognize -- I am not going to tie you to any specific figure.  I just I want an idea.

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Structural work, would that be less if you didn't have to go underground and take apart a machine shop, or would that be about the same?

MR. ODELL:  Again, it depends on the configuration.  If I am looking to option B, there is significant structural work required for option B.  So I think we might as well continue through this process.

There would actually be more structural work required for option B than option A.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, but option B is building --


MR. ODELL:  Building up.

MR. MILLAR:  Something like 80 feet.

MR. ODELL:  Right.  From a structural perspective, building underground would really represent less structural work.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that cost wouldn't go up -- sorry, it wouldn't go down.  It might go up?

MR. ODELL:  If you went to a traditional above-grade-type facility.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Finishes, I'm not sure what that is, and it is not a lot of money, at least in comparison to the total.

MR. ODELL:  I think, generally speaking, underground you would anticipate your finishes would be lower, because you are underground.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. ODELL:  However, this also takes into account some of the heritage features that we've incorporated from a landscaping perspective into the location, so that is why there is an increase.

MR. MILLAR:  Mechanical, would that be --


MR. ODELL:  Mechanical is essentially a wash.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I assume the construction of the cable tunnel we see further down would be more or less the same?  I guess it would depend, but --


MR. ODELL:  Again, in option B, because of the location of option B, which is meant to avoid the machine shop location, there is -- the access tunnel to the main Simcoe Bremner tunnel would have to be longer.

So that would represent about almost a million dollars of additional costs associated with the access tunnel for the high voltage connection.

MR. MILLAR:  Depending on the location, it would impact the cost of the tunnel, just because a longer tunnel costs more, or a shorter tunnel costs less?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be fair to say, then, that the major increased cost drivers, by going underground and taking apart the machine shop would be, A, obviously for the machine shop line item which would be eliminated in a site that didn't have a machine shop, and then you would also save some money on shoring and excavation; is that fair?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  One further question on this.

What about insurance?  I assume you have an insurer and you insure your transformer stations, or are they --


MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure how it works.  I assume you have insurance.  Is there a premium associated with, for example, the extra flooding risk with this underground facility?  Is that something that you have looked at?

MR. ODELL:  We have actually recently considered it, but I haven't got a means of telling you whether or not this location would be subject to higher insurance rates than one of our other facilities in the -- in the downtown core.

MR. MILLAR:  So your insurer hasn't expressed -- hasn't come to you and said, if you do an underground station here, there is going to be a premium associated with that?

MR. ODELL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  You have asked that, or you've not asked it?

MR. ODELL:  I have not asked that, but our insurance group is pursuing that direction.  I could take an undertaking if you would like.

MS. HARE:  I don't think that is necessary.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Let's move on.

Appendix 4, again, immediately before appendix 5, not surprisingly, just a couple of questions.

This is a review of your decision to go with the Bremner site.  In fact, if you look at the first page of that, you will see a "sites rejected" heading, and there are nine sites there.

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to get a handle on the history of this site, I understand it was originally Hydro One who was looking for the transformer location?

MR. ODELL:  I think actually it was originally Ontario Hydro.

MR. MILLAR:  Because it has been a while.

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  They reviewed a number of sites, and then eventually a decision was made you would do it.  And, in fact, you bought the property from Hydro One, I understand?

MR. ODELL:  The history is that, actually, the City of Toronto made an agreement with Ontario Hydro at the time to acquire the previous location, which was the Queen's Quay transformer location that I mentioned in my examination in-chief.

And the option for the hydro lands within the Roundhouse Park was then conveyed to Ontario Hydro, then Hydro One.

And then -- and this process of looking at rejected sites was a process through which the City of Toronto and Hydro One went to assess what alternative sites could be -- could be used to avoid a traditional transformer station on the Roundhouse site, Roundhouse Park site.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And so we see under "sites rejected" there are nine sites that you had some look at and were rejected; is that right?

MR. ODELL:  That Hydro One --


MR. MILLAR:  Hydro One.

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Did Toronto Hydro actually look at any of these sites, or was this all done by Hydro One?

MR. ODELL:  It was done by Hydro One, but we have studied the locations that have been provided, and some of that is in the evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Indeed, you will see options 8 and 9 of the sites rejected, there is actually a bit of write-up in this appendix about them.

But sites 1 through 7, it is not clear to me why they were rejected.  Are you able to give us some information on that?

MR. ODELL:  Again, it was a Hydro One decision, but I think we -- with respect to 8 and 9, we did have the specific response.  I think the other locations -- I can't give you an answer as to the specific reasons for the rejection.

MR. MILLAR:  So what this appendix A does look at, it looks at, I guess in total, three of the options, the site you have gone with, the preferred site, and then it talks about an option 1 and an option 2.  You are familiar with that?

MR. ODELL:  Sorry, where are you now?

MR. MILLAR:  This is the same appendix.  Again, I'm sorry there aren't pages.  What are listed under "sites rejected" as 8 and 9 are then further discussed --


MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- slightly confusing as option 1 and option 2.

MR. ODELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Option 2 is rejected.  Again, you don't necessarily need to turn it up.  It is a little farther down the road.

MR. ODELL:  I see it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Largely because the site is not big enough?

MR. ODELL:  It is not big enough; correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Then there is option 1.  So maybe I could ask if we could pull up -- again, this is in the same appendix, just a couple of pages past the page we were just on under "sites rejected".

It might be helpful if we could have that on the screen.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Millar, can I just ask?  These were sites that were reviewed and rejected by Hydro One or Ontario Hydro?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, yes.  I mean, Toronto Hydro -- I think with options 1 and 2, Toronto Hydro itself has been involved in looking at those sites.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  I was wondering whether you are going to be suggesting they should have chosen another site.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, we may be suggesting there are other alternative sites that could have been looked at, yes.

MR. ODELL:  The evidence actually shows the timing and the attachments that -- these were attachments to an August 16th, 2002 letter from the City of Toronto to Hydro One.

So at that time, Toronto Hydro was not engaged -- although probably very curious, was not engaged in the actual discussion of the options and the reasons for rejection.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So all of these sites, is it fair to say you didn't look at them, Hydro One looked at them?

MR. ODELL:  Hydro One looked at them.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you looked at any other sites?

MR. ODELL:  We have considered some other alternatives in the vicinity of the Roundhouse Park site, in the context of some discussions with stakeholders.

And we have looked at many of the previous sites from the perspective of seeing what else is available in the downtown.

One thing I think should be underlined is, since 2002, the massive amount of development in the downtown has essentially eliminated any alternative that could be considered anywhere near the Roundhouse Park site.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there anything in the evidence about alternate sites that you looked at, or is it just appendix --


MR. ODELL:  No.  There is nothing about the alternative sites that we looked at, because they were quickly dispensed with in our discussions with the City of Toronto.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me try and finish this relatively quickly, then.  This is my last area.

If I could ask whoever is doing the AV equipment to go ahead just a couple of pages?  One more, I think.

Yes.  Right here.

This is what is listed as option 1, which is not the current site.  It is a site between Bathurst and Spadina, a little bit to the west of the site that you are proposing; is that right?

MR. ODELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, again, when you look at appendix A, this was rejected.  I guess there were some concerns from planning staff that they wanted this site to be used as a park or something like that, and you would have to build underground.

MR. ODELL:  Excuse me.  That Hydro One would have to build underground.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  At the time, Hydro One, I'm sorry.

MR. ODELL:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That said, I have looked at that site.  I actually went on Google Maps to have a look.

It looks to be -– or it was a construction site fairly recently.  Do you know what that site is being used for right now?

MR. ODELL:  I think it is maybe a condo at this point.

MR. MILLAR:  So that was one of the sites that -- would you have looked at this site when you did your -- you said you did a quick review and there was nothing else in the area.  Since this was one of the sites Hydro One looked at, did you have a look at it, as well?  It was too late, I guess?

MR. ODELL:  It was too late at that point.  At the point -- what this appendix is basically referencing is that Hydro One did their due diligence with respect to looking at alternative sites, and could not find a site that was superior to the Roundhouse Park site.

But I do not know all of the reasons for rejection of this specific option.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But currently the problem with that option is they're building a condo on it, I guess?

MR. ODELL:  They're building a condo.

MR. MILLAR:  If I could just have one moment, Madam Chair?

Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Cass, do you have the information that Mr. Shepherd was looking for now?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I am struggling a little bit.  I have some information, but I am trying to figure out what I've got.  That is the difficulty.

MS. HARE:  All right.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, just so that there is no uncertainty about it, I am told that Toronto Hydro does not have Hydro One's projected revenue figures, just to make that clear.

So what I am looking at is actually the other question about the incremental loads.

But I don't have anything on revenues, because I am told Toronto Hydro does not have it from Hydro One.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Why don't we take a five-minute break so that you can look at the information and Mr. Shepherd can think what that does to his cross?

And we will come back.  So five minutes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

--- Recess taken at 12:10 p.m.

--- On resuming at 12:15 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Mr. Cass, where are we on the information that Mr. Shepherd was looking for?

MR. CASS:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  If I might just have an indulgence, we are getting some late-breaking information.

MS. HARE:  Well, okay.  Do you need a couple of more minutes?

MR. CASS:  I don't know that we do.  If I might just have a moment, Madam Chair?

MS. HARE:  That's fine.

MR. CASS:  Maybe we do need a couple of minutes.  My apologies.

MS. HARE:  We're very flexible.

MR. CASS:  My apologies.

--- Recess taken at 12:25 p.m.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Has there been some exchange of information that would permit Mr. Shepherd to continue?

MR. CASS:  Yes, Madam Chair.  There is a document that has been provided to parties and there are copies for the Board.  I will do my best to explain, and the witnesses can correct me if and when I go wrong.

This, I understand, is a spreadsheet that came from Hydro One in connection with the issue under discussion.  Toronto Hydro has not been able to confirm with Hydro One whether there are issues around producing it here today.  However, if I understand correctly, it appears to Toronto Hydro that most or all of the data in here comes from Toronto Hydro anyway, so it does seem unlikely that Hydro One would have concerns.

So on that basis, this document has been provided to parties and I think could be given an exhibit number.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Millar, what number are we at?  K?

MR. MILLAR:  This is K7.2, and you should have copies at the dais.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.2:  SPREADSHEET ENTITLED:  "DOWNTOWN TORONTO JET AREA LOAD FORECAST AND BREMNER MTS INCREMENTAL LOAD."

MS. HARE:  We do.

MR. MILLAR:  It is labelled:  "Downtown Toronto JET Area Load Forecast and Bremner MTS Incremental Load."

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass, do you want to explain this chart, do your witnesses want to explain it, or...

MR. CASS:  I think the witnesses would do better at explaining it than me for sure, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you for the opportunity.

We have researched the information which Mr. Shepherd requested, and so what you have before you is input from Toronto Hydro based on our 2012 load forecast, which also appeared in Pollution Probe Interrogatory 6.

So the function of this spreadsheet is the front end to an analysis which Hydro One will complete but have not yet completed.

These are the inputs for the area loads and the area volumes.  It is conservative in nature.  By that, I mean the loads for one bus at Bremner have been included, that is the A12 bus.

The anticipated load growth for our second bus at Bremner A34 is not included in this sheet.

And this was developed in conjunction with Hydro One to provide a conservative basis for the contribution agreement.

We expect to load the second bus at Bremner beyond what is shown in the sheet here.

And at this point, Hydro One has not completed their revenue requirement and we do not have any access to it.  My understanding is the Hydro One team have submitted this to their finance group, but that's all we know.

And so a couple of important notes here.

If the volume at Bremner comes through as forecast and there is only the first bus utilized, as is shown on this sheet, the capital contribution that Toronto Hydro provide Hydro One is roughly the $60 million.

If, however, the volume that arises at Bremner is above these figures and we utilize the second bus, as we expect, then over the true-up period with Hydro One, there is likely a credit returned to Toronto Hydro and the Toronto rate base for that volume difference.

So I underline that it is a conservative basis for the costing and the basis for the CCRA, and that's where things stand today.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Shepherd, then, do you have some questions?
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I do have a few, yes.

So they've treated this as a low-risk expansion under the Transmission System Code; right?  Because they have done a 25-year analysis?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  That's the basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then they do that with all utilities; it is low-risk because you are not likely to shut down?

MR. SIMPSON:  I am only familiar with Toronto Hydro's submissions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I read this, and it looks like - tell me whether this is right - it looks like this is saying on the second page, the smaller page, that in 2012 the loading on these three stations, the JET stations -- that's cute -- was 601.9 megawatts out of 704 net capacity at 90 percent power factor.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you had free capacity, free -- I don't mean free, but available capacity, unused capacity, of 102.2 megawatts as of last year?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's a fair statement as far as transmission capability to the area.

It doesn't reflect the individual loading issues at each station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we have the individual loading; right?  The individual loading was you had unused capacity in 2012 of 13.9 at Esplanade, 37.5 at John -- or Windsor, and 50.7 at Terauley.

MR. SIMPSON:  I guess, to better appreciate that, my point is we may not have available positions or physical arrangements to accommodate the load, even though the aggregate capacity appears to exist for that area.

There are other considerations beyond what is on the sheet, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you might have, for example, at Terauley -- no, Terauley is a bad example.

At John -- Windsor, you might have 37.5 megawatts of available capacity, but you have nowhere to connect it?  There is no physical place to put it?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, fair enough.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you say the station's capacity is 310.3, it isn't really.

MR. SIMPSON:  It is viewed as an aggregate for the purposes of this volume analysis, and this is how Hydro One approached the work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  Sorry, my question was:  Is the capacity of John really 310.3?  Or is it really something less?

MR. SIMPSON:  When you look at the physical arrangements, especially with the network load that is served there, it can be viewed as less than 310, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in your evidence somewhere?

Because I looked for it over the break, trying to find somewhere where you say what the real effective capacity is of these stations, and I didn't see it.

MR. SIMPSON:  The bus loading is -- that appears in the load forecast is done on a consistent basis against the transformation and the bus capacity at that station.

So you will see it reflected in the percent of headroom at each station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you point me somewhere where this is shown?  Where I can look at it and say:  Oh, yeah, okay.  I understand; there's capacity, but there is not enough places to put the feeders?

MR. SIMPSON:  Our opening remarks showed the percentage of the bus loadings for the total station, and I believe that is in somewhere 2011 or 2012 forecasts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  But that is, like, for example it was, what, 72 percent for Esplanade or something like that?

MR. SIMPSON:  In that order.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So that is your actual load relative to station capacity; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not how many places you can connect things?

MR. SIMPSON:  Right.  And that's, I guess, what I'm referring to, is there are additional considerations beyond how the total loading of the station appears.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  And I'm asking:  In your evidence, am I going to find those additional considerations described somewhere?

Because the first time I heard of it -- and it may be just because I am not an engineer and I didn't understand
-- but the first time I heard of it was when you talked about it in oral evidence.

So can you show me where in the evidence I can look at it and say:  Okay, now I understand?

MR. SIMPSON:  It may not appear in the evidence.  I know that recent connection requests for Windsor through 2012 have had to be largely served from Terauley, because of the size of the connection and the lack of available feeder positions at Windsor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The second thing is, the second thing I want to ask about, this is on the bigger spreadsheet, and this is -- they took your numbers, your load figures; right?  And you provided them with load by station; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you provided them with -- there's not more than one type of load; right?  There is load?

MR. SIMPSON:  The nature of the load is important.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  As far as getting network or radial feeder connections.  We have given them the current loads at those station buses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And these are peak demand; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  I think you will see that some are 2012 figures, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And when I look at this, it looks to me like, first of all, like it is saying -- if you look at the bottom box under "Bremner MTS," like, in 2014 you are adding 49.5 megawatts.  That's megawatts; right?  That is not MVA?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm just checking through it.  Give me a moment.

Yes.  I believe the bottom three large boxes are all megawatts, and just MVA in the top box.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Bremner TS has 49.5 megawatts of -- now is that capacity or is that load it's serving?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's the forecast load on that first bus at Windsor -- at Bremner, pardon me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is what -- we talked earlier about the 55 MVA that you are going to move over from Windsor to Bremner in 2014.  This is that 55; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

And so then I look above that and I see a number 112.7.  That is the total unused capacity of all of your -- all of these stations, now four of them, including the 49.5 from Bremner; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  It's for the JET area.  It's worth noting why that is done.

The volume in that area is a feature of the CCRA.  So it will look at the plus and minus across each of those four stations in the volume true-up, which appears five years, ten years, 15 years down the road.

MR. ODELL:  But I think your question was specifically whether the one 12.7 included Bremner or was just JET?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. ODELL:  It is just JET.  So it is John, Esplanade, Terauley.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, but it includes the assumption that 49.5 has been moved from John to Bremner; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's valid, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it includes the impact of Bremner?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  You will see the corresponding drop on the Windsor load profile for that movement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, if you look at the box above it under Windsor, you see that the unused capacity in 2013 is 25.9 and it goes up to 70 in 2014, because you got Bremner; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  We'd ask you to look at the top set of 

-- top box, rather, in MVA.  And you will see the corresponding drop in load at the John-Windsor station.

In year 2014, for example, it is shown at 267 MVA.  So it reflects a load reduction at Windsor for that same period we see the load addition at Bremner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I understand.  But let me come back to the megawatts that I understand and know and love.

At John, you had 25.9 of unused capacity in 2013 and going up to 70 in 2014.  And the reason for that increase in megawatts of capacity at John is because of Bremner taking 49.5 megawatts of capacity; is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm just checking here.  Yeah, I believe that is fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then it is interesting that the forecast is that from 2014 to 2015, there is another almost 20 megawatts of capacity at John, but nothing being shifted over to Bremner.  So why is that?

MR. SIMPSON:  I may have to look into the assumptions for that step, but you will see the John-Windsor load profile has dropped in the MVA in the top box in that same period of time, and it will be what feeders were transferring in and out and what work we're doing on what busses at that particular Windsor station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so this includes -- all of these numbers include the work you're doing on the station?

MR. SIMPSON:  The forecast reflects the anticipated work at the Windsor six-bus switchgear replacements, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is interesting, because what it says is that with Bremner you have 112.7 -- with Bremner in place taking 49.5, you have 112.7 megawatts of unused capacity in 2014, which I take it means that without Bremner you have 63.2 megawatts; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I may not be following you carefully, but what this analysis from Hydro One is looking to do is look at the volume in that JET area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  So it is fair that there is unused capacity of 112.7 in that period, of which we're addressing the maintenance work at Windsor with the new bus at Bremner carrying 49.5 meg.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And am I right that the first time on this that you actually need Bremner for load growth alone is 2023?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, that is the wrong conclusion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then you'll have to help me with this, because that is what it looked like to me.

MR. SIMPSON:  The sheet you have in front of you is a conservative approach to establish the capital contribution from Toronto Hydro to Hydro One.  And so the volumes used for that only reflect the first bus at Bremner.

If we look at the evidence under Pollution Probe IR 6, you will see the load trend for the second bus at Bremner, which starts year 2015, 2016 and 2017.

Our recent experience is that we have a pressing need for capacity in that area.  The number of connection requests and the difficulty we have presently serving them from the existing stations leads us to believe that we will have need for that second bus at Bremner, and that's why it is included in our plans now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But here's what I don't understand.  Hydro One is obligated to give a fair analysis, and their analysis doesn't include a second bus; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  They are providing a fair, conservative analysis consistent with the Transmission System Code.

It's good to remember that all of these figures are subject to the actual cost for the work and the actual volume that appears over time.

So if there is a credit from a conservative volume forecast here, it will come back to benefit the Toronto rate base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but right now they're saying that there is zero incremental load on a second bus; right?  Their forecast is there's no need for that second bus until 2038?

MR. SIMPSON:  I disagree.  Our forecast shows that we will need the second bus as early as 2015, 2016, 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking about your forecast, sorry.  I'm asking about theirs.

MR. SIMPSON:  And I have explained to you that it is a conservative nature for allocating the costs in the CCRA.  It is subject to true-up and actual load and actual volume.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But the question I am asking -- we've got that point.

The simpler point I am asking is:  Am I correct that you're not getting credit in this calculation for any incremental loads on a second bus?

MR. SIMPSON:  I will just repeat that the analysis --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, sorry, it is a yes-or-no question, and then you can give an explanation.

MR. SIMPSON:  I have, Mr. Shepherd.  It reflects a conservative loading of the first bus only, and it is all subject to volume and true-up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I think I am entitled to a yes or no.

MS. HARE:  I think you are, too, because I am actually a bit confused, also.

So aside from how you would interpret it, the numbers themselves, is Mr. Shepherd correct in how he is interpreting just these numbers, without knowing anything more about it?  Is that the question?

MR. SIMPSON:  For clarity, Mr. Shepherd, please repeat your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is:  Based on this Hydro One assumption about load, they are not giving you any credit for a second bus, or a third or fourth for that matter, but none for even a second bus at Bremner; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  And it's the conservative nature of the CCRA, and I should remind you it is a draft form between the two parties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.

MR. SIMPSON:  And it will continue to evolve.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have redone this calculation presumably assuming the load that you think is going to happen; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't believe it has been completed yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give us a ballpark of what you think the net present value of the loads are on the basis of the assumptions that you have?

MR. SIMPSON:  I cannot.  It's a Hydro One calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to figure out is how much of the $60 million do you think we're going to get back in true-up?

MR. SIMPSON:  That will depend on the actual cost of the work and the volume that flows through the station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But assuming they know how to estimate their costs and they've told you that the thing is going to cost 60 million, and you have an estimate of load that is higher than their conservative estimate, on the basis of your estimate of load, how much of the 60 million are we going to get back; do you know?

MR. SIMPSON:  I can't answer that at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're negotiating with them; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know the results of Hydro One's financial analysis.  It has not been conveyed to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but I don't understand.  You're in the middle of negotiating how much of the 60 million you actually have to pay them.

Presumably you've put to them, Here's our assumption about load and, as a result, you only really need 27.3 million, right, or whatever the number is?

MS. HARE:  I think Mr. Simpson answered that he doesn't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then I am suggesting that he's not giving us the full story.  I'm not saying he is lying.  I'm saying that, in the course of negotiations, the nature of the negotiation is 60 million, some other number, both of which have a justification.

I am asking him for his justification of the other number. 

MR. ODELL:  At this time in the stage of negotiation we are at with respect to the CCRA, we received the draft -- the second draft CCRA in December of 2012, and the primary focus of our negotiations from that point forward were to discuss the physical installation that is planned for the Hydro One component of the Bremner station, trying to reduce that significantly, and in so doing ensure that the Toronto ratepayers are disadvantaged as much -- as little as possible.

MR. SEAL:  Mr. Shepherd, and I will just add and it has been alluded to already, that the true-up process that we do envision that we have talked about -- which we believe should be a fair process for the company and for ratepayers -- is one that will we will take into account, that will be no windfall for THESL, for any underspend, as well as any prudent overspend is also taken into account.

And so differences in the capital contribution between the $60 million that we have right now and what the actual capital contribution is in the end will be accounted for in part of the true-up process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am confused now.  I thought you were talking about a different true-up.

You have proposed a true-up in this application, but I thought you were talking about a true-up under the CCRA. 

MR. SEAL:  That is true.  I believe there are two different true-ups.

What I am talking about right now is if the negotiations result in a capital contribution now that is payable now, that is different than the $60 million that we have on record, that that would be reflected as part of the true-up process that we have proposed in this process.

If after some period of time, the CCRA true-up happens when the actual loads are experienced, then that will get dealt with in rate base at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You will have already collected it from the ratepayers by then.  You will have already been collecting on 60 --


MR SEAL:  Based on our assumptions as to what the loads would be, the normal way we would do a capital contribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You will be -- you will understand, Mr. Seal, that what I am trying to get at here is if you think you are going to get the whole 60 million back from Hydro One because the loads will materialize, then it may make some sense to simply put that 60 million into a deferral account and wait and see what happens.

And that is what I am trying to get my head around here:  How much of it do you think you are going to get back? 

MR. SEAL:  I can't answer that part of the question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what I was asking, the –-

MR. SEAL:  What I can answer is, as I said, part of the IRM/ICM process is that funds that actually get spent do go in a deferral and variance account, and the true-up process that we envision is part of that process, to true up any differences between what we collect in a rate adder, an approved rate adder, and what we actually spend now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes.  I guess my difficulty here is this.

The true-up you're talking about now, Mr. Seal, is a true-up for the amount of the contribution you actually have to pay.

But the revenues that appear later on won't be trued up between Hydro One and yourselves for five years.

So the true-up that you're talking about won't be affected by that; right? 

MR. SEAL:  True.  That is a different process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I'm saying if the CCRA is going to say you'll get back the money if it is overpaid, and your estimate is that you are actually going to have to pay zero in the end, then it makes some sense to put it into a deferral account.

So I am trying to get a sense of how much do you think you're going to get back.

I take it that what you're saying is you don't know.  You don't have a forecast? 

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SIMPSON:  I would just repeat that we put forward conservative volume numbers for the purpose of the CCRA, and the Toronto rate base will be kept whole at the true-up period, five years, 10 years, 15 years down the road. 

MR. ODELL:  I would like to reiterate that the primary focus of the Bremner team has been to work with Hydro One to decrease the complexity of their transmission connection, and in so doing, decrease the $60 million at the outset.

And in our negotiations regarding the CCRA, we have stipulated that that is one of the primary conditions. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My final question on this, then, I want to come back, because I don't think I nailed it down, the second box from the bottom, the line "John/Windsor TS," has an increase in load from 2014 to 2015 of almost 20 megawatts.

And you told me to go up to the top box, but you didn't actually explain to me why that 20 megawatts is happening.  Maybe I just misunderstood. 

Can you help me with that? 

MR. SIMPSON:  My best understanding of that is that of the six buses at Windsor, we will be shifting various feeders and loads around to accommodate the switchgear replacement, and that is what is likely reflected in that plus or minus 20 megawatt figure. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, that would be a very good explanation, except that the total for the stations is also going up.  Actually, by 26 megawatts.

So shifting between the stations doesn't answer the question. 

MR. SIMPSON:  It was intra-station that I was referring to. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you're obviously talking technical terms that are beyond me.

When you shift around within the station, you increase the capacity of the station? 

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  I apologize.  I think I see what is reflected there.

The present bus rating on one of the Windsor buses will be X, is increasing slightly when the new bus and switch gear line-up goes in place, and that is what is likely reflected in that forecast amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the new switchgear will be more efficient than the old switchgear?

MR. SIMPSON:  It will have slightly greater capacity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that happening in 2015, when you told us it takes 18 months to replace the switchgear? 

MR. SIMPSON:  This was the information available from the 2012 forecast.  It will, you know, shift with the schedule of each project.

This was our best information at the time. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I don't think I understand that. 

What you said is you're going to replace one switchgear starting in 2014?  It takes 18 months at least.  So you're not going to have it by 2015; it's going to be in 2016. 

So why do you say that, in 2015, you will have more efficiency from that new switchgear when it is not in place yet? 

MR. SIMPSON:  I may not be able to satisfy you at this time.  If you would like an undertaking for the reason for that line item, 70 to 89.8, we can provide that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine. 

MR. MILLAR:  So you would like an undertaking? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure. 

MR. MILLAR:  J7.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.3:  to EXPLAIN PROJECTED 2015 INCREASE IN CAPACITY.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have no further questions about this.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  Mr. Seal, you confused me a little bit when you talked about two true-ups.  Which two true-ups are you talking about? 

MR. SEAL:  The -- I was specifically referencing the true-up that we proposed as part of the process for the second phase or the second part.

So trueing up -- well, developing the true-up process that will occur after 2014 to reconcile the ICM spend, actual spend, with the forecasted spend that we would --


MS. HARE:  I understand, but would you also agree with me that is Toronto Hydro's proposal?  That is not what is in the Board's policy.

MR. SEAL:  True.  We have proposed working with the Board and with the intervenors on developing a possible true-up arrangement.

MS. HARE:  Correct.  But, again, that is not what is in the policy; there is not a mention of a true-up. 

MR. SEAL:  I don't specifically recall there being a specific mention of a true-up, no.  It was our understanding. 

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Cass, any redirect? 

MR. CASS:  I do have some areas, yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you. 
Re-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  I have a few areas from yesterday and I do actually have transcript references, if it is possible to get the transcript up on the screen.

The first comes from page 139 of yesterday's transcript.  These were questions about evidence, which indicated five potential actions that could be taken when a transformer station bus is forecast to exceed its capacity. 

That's at line 17 on page 139 of the transcript.

Anyway, can the panel explain where CDM is factored into those five potential actions in those circumstances? 

MR. SIMPSON:  We're finding the reference, Mr. Cass, but -- yes.  Those five actions are operational choices for us to accommodate the new load.

As far as where CDM figures in, the CDM achievements are netted and included into the previous five-year history for that load forecast.  So CDM is pursued in parallel, if you will, but is not viewed as an operational choice for the station bus capacity, which is a pressing, near-term requirement.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  The next reference is page 163 of the transcript.  This was the subject that got considerable attention during yesterday's cross-examination, which was the sensitivity analysis and the assumption of a 50 percent factor for the sensitivity analysis.

I guess this is your area, Mr. Shlatz.  What should the Board take from the choice of 50 percent in your sensitivity analysis?

MR. SHLATZ:  The intent of the analysis was to take a look at where things are going to be as of 2014 with regard to existing and committed CDM, and the intent was to take 50 percent of that and deem it to be firm CDM, and then to allocate that over time out to, I believe, 2030, and then to take a look at the -- take a look at the difference annually between the current load forecast or that was filed as part of our report, and netting out what I would call targeted CDM on an annual basis to see how many years that might defer substation capacity.  I need to highlight substation capacity, transformer capacity, as opposed to the bus capacity that Mr. Simpson was referring to.

It doesn't purport to be able to defer the station bus capacity, but solely the transformation capacity.  And I would characterize this simply as an assumption, an exercise to make a determination how many years a transformation asset could be deferred under a sensitivity assumption.  Fifty percent was chosen for no particular reason other than I felt it was fairly robust.  And as a result of that analysis, we found that the potential deferral time frame was no more than a few years.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Shlatz.

Then the next area was page 166 of the transcript, but, again, I think this was discussed a number of times yesterday, and that was the treatment of CDM beyond 2014 and the evaluation of alternatives.

Can the panel explain why CDM was approached in the way that it was beyond 2014?

MR. SIMPSON:  The approach reflected the funding available for conservation -- CDM efforts across Toronto.  And so it was viewed with reasonable certainty through 2014, but there was uncertainty in the years 2015 and beyond.

And so our load forecast on the ten-year operational basis reflects what we know and what we project through 2014 only, and don't really feature CDM or DG beyond that.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Then the next question I have relates to some testimony at page 158 of yesterday's transcript, and specifically the question was around numbers that appear at page 87 of Environmental Defence's cross-examination materials, if I have the right page reference.

If you are with me on page 87, there's a table there called "Table 1", and you were being asked questions -- I think it was you being asked questions about this, Mr. Simpson.

And I am just -- yes.  It is at lines 9 to 11 on page 158.  In response to the questions, you indicated that these numbers appear reasonable, "but you must take care", sorry, it is flipping around on me, "when dealing with an aggregate across those five stations."

I was hoping you could explain what you meant when you said, "you must take care when dealing with an aggregate across five stations."

MR. SIMPSON:  Toronto Hydro's responsibility is of course for the safe, reliable electricity supply.  And sometimes the aggregate numbers will not show the site-specific constraints.

And, for example, Windsor, we are out of physical positions for any large loads to connect there, and so looking at the aggregate picture would be misleading, in that we can no longer connect loads to Windsor.

And my understanding of table 1 was that these aggregate numbers could be misinterpreted that way.  The shortfall needs to be looked at at each station, not just the aggregate, because obviously if we're at a negative at one station and a positive at another, we're still short.

MR. CASS:  That actually leads into another question that I wanted to ask, and it may be that you did clear this up in the final questions from Mr. Shepherd, so it perhaps has been covered, but I just wanted to confirm.

Have you explained fully the difference between what you're talking about when you refer to feeder positions as compared to the capacity numbers for stations?  There did seem to be some uncertainty around that.

I think you addressed it in the final questions from Mr. Shepherd, but I just wanted to be sure that you have covered that adequately.

MR. SIMPSON:  Some of our customers will require dedicated feeders which, of course, require their own dedicated feeder position.  And those are becoming scarce across most of the five area stations.

And so we may have bus capacity at a certain station, but no more physical positions to connect new loads, and that makes it challenging to connect the new load and growth that we see in that area.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Just a couple of other areas.  This is going back to the examination by Environmental Defence, some of the questions earlier today.

There were questions about distributed generation, and so I simply want to put to you a question.  Is distributed generation an alternative to the Bremner project?

MR. SIMPSON:  In our view, no.  There are a number of challenges with applying DG as a solution to hold up a bus at Windsor.

Today, the short-circuit capacity does not exist across Toronto for such a DG connection.  There's a limitation at the Windsor equipment and an upstream limitation at the Hydro One equipment.

As mentioned, all of the upgrades at Leaside, Manby and Hearn, as far as their breaker capacity, have to be completed for that upstream constraint to be removed.  And at this time, we don't see DG as a viable option for holding the bus capacity at Windsor.

It is perhaps worth noting that some of the work Toronto Hydro has done on interconnections for DG is being prepared for a GEA plan, which will be brought to the OEB later this year.  And some of that work may improve that situation, but it requires funding and a long-term plan.

MR. CASS:  Then I just wanted to -- I'm sorry.

MR. SHLATZ:  I would like to add a point to that, as well, in terms of the characterization of DG, and I believe the witnesses from the OPA alluded to this issue yesterday, is the relative degree of availability of distributed generation.

I think it is not a fair comparison to compare an asset such as a TND facility or distribution substation such as Bremner to DG.  The availability of Bremner is going to be on the order of the 9.9 percent, much like other substations.

The reliability and availability of an individual DG device typically is well below -- is below 90 or 80 percent.  So to characterize them as being equivalent I think is inappropriate.

And from a bulk system standpoint, that might be -- the benefit provided to the bulk system is not the same that's provided at the local level.  That is an important distinction.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  I just wanted to flip the question around, if I could.  With Bremner in place, does that have any impact on your ability to accommodate DG, distributed generation? 

MR. SIMPSON:  Our analysis shows that with the Bremner buses and new connection, it will likely enable connections of DG in that general area.

It is, of course, sensitive to what is required upstream, and Hydro One's work at Manby, Leaside and Hearn.

But in many ways, Bremner could be viewed as enabling DG in the downtown area. 

MR. CASS:  All right.  And flipping quickly to one other subject, there was a series of questions from Environmental Defence about Toronto Hydro's income comparison looking at the Bremner station project, compared to conservation.

Is Toronto Hydro in any way motivated by income considerations in coming forward with the Bremner proposal? 

MR. ODELL:  Absolutely not.  If you take a look at the estimates, the projections associated with the project, we're trying to minimize the cost as much as possible.  The previous dialogue with Mr. Shepherd indicated how much we are working with Hydro One to reduce the costs.

As well, what you will see in our estimates, we have not included any contingency or any additional estimates of escalation costs in our project.  We're keeping it to those estimates that have been provided by our consultants.

And we, at this juncture, have been receiving our responses to many of our fees, which indicate that we're on track and that our estimates are, indeed, accurate and that our ask is prudent.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Finally, just one other question.

There were some questions today about the -- what I would loosely refer to as an Esplanade alternative.

A lot of the questioning in that area has focussed around costs.

And I believe I recall correctly -- I hope you will correct me if I get the words wrong -- but I did understand one of the witnesses to say that there are a number of issues around that as an alternative.

And correct me if I'm wrong, but if I am right, could you just summarize -- rather than just specifically getting into the costs -- summarize what all of the issues are around that alternative? 

MR. ODELL:  I will take that, and then I will have Mr. Shlatz embellish it.

The primary approach that would be taken to use Esplanade as reinforcement or the -- to offload the buses at Windsor for replacement would be, obviously, the need for new transformation capability and new medium-voltage switchgear at the Esplanade site.

And then the extension of feeders; in the case of the Windsor connection, 16 feeders from Esplanade approximately 2.2 kilometres to the Windsor/John station to offload the first bus.

The route that that would take would be right through the core of the city of Toronto, that same core that has been torn up most of this summer for the work around Union Station, and would mean a significant disruption to traffic and to the operations in the city.

It is expected that it would be an extremely long, time-consuming process, which would involve permitting that would be very difficult to coordinate.

As well, we would have to commence the approach or the plan with Hydro One, and they would have to seek approval to move forward with the Esplanade project.  So there would be all of that effort that would need to be done.

We have, as we mentioned, in 2011 completed all of the detailed engineering for the Bremner station project.  That has not commenced with the Esplanade station alternative.  So that took us in the neighbourhood of one year to get to the point where we were at the end of 2011.

So all of these would represent a significant time constraint, as well as drive us into completion that would not be aligned with our plans for Windsor.

MR. SHLATZ:  Probably the only thing I would add, certainly the time frame in terms of having the facility available would be quite a few years down the road.

And in the meantime, the bus, switchgear issue at Windsor would remain unresolved.

The other point to be made is the nature of the load that is served by Windsor.  There's a large amount of secondary network load which is served from the Windsor station.  It is not common practice in the industry to serve such a load from two kilometres away, and there may be some radial load involved, but it is an unusual arrangement and not something that we would -- that would normally be recommended or a common practice within the industry. 

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That is the re-examination of the panel.

MS. HARE:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, witnesses for participating in the hearing.  You are now excused.

[Witness panel withdraws]


MS. HARE:  Mr. Elson, are you ready to introduce your panel?

MR. ELSON:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, while Mr. Elson's panel is getting up, I do not have any cross of his panel and so, with the Board's permission, I will excuse myself.

MS. HARE:  Thank you, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Madam Chair, Mr. Bach had a prior appointment and would like, if possible, to leave here by 4:00 o'clock.  So we may ask to skip the break, if that might accommodate that.  I don't think, from the time estimates, that will be a problem.  And of course if it is, we will continue on, but we may ask that we either take a shorter break or skip the break, depending on how things are going.

MS. HARE:  We will take a shorter break.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, just an update on time estimates with Mr. Shepherd not having any cross.   I don't think Staff has any cross either, so I think it will just be Toronto Hydro, which was about an hour, I think. 

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Has Mr. Bach been sworn? 

MS. SPOEL:  No, not yet. 
ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE FUND - PANEL 1


Bob Bach, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Good afternoon, Mr. Bach.  I would like to start by asking you some questions about your qualifications. 

Mr. Bach, your CV is attached at appendix B to your report; is that correct? 

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  You will have to hit the green button. 

MR. BACH:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

According to your CV, you are a mechanical engineer? 

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you are a senior associate at Energy Profiles Limited?

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And your focus at Energy Profiles is on matters such as sustainable buildings, municipal energy efficiency programs, new building design, energy codes and the like? 

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  How long have you worked in the energy efficiency field? 

MR. BACH:  30 years. 

MR. ELSON:  And before becoming a consultant, you had significant experience with HVAC systems?

MR. BACH:  I did.

MR. ELSON:  You have provided a list of CDM projects that you have been involved in over the last five years.  And I believe the Panel has copies of these.

And I would like to quickly refer to it, and I would ask that it be marked as an exhibit. 

MR. MILLAR:  It will be Exhibit K7.3.

Does the Panel have a copy? 

MS. HARE:  I'm not sure if we're referring to the CV that is at the end of the evidence.  Is that what we're looking at?

MR. ELSON:  I am referring to this table.  I believe you have copies there.  I have more with me, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  At the top, it says "List of CDM projects by HR Bach."

MS. HARE:  We have that. 

MR. MILLAR:  That is 7.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K7.3:  TABLE ENTITLED, "LIST OF CDM PROJECTS BY H.R. BACH."

MR. ELSON:  Now, I don't intend to go through this in detail, obviously.  However, Mr. Bach, you have done a significant amount of work in this field for clients such as the OPA, the City of Toronto, Hydro One, Exhibition Place and Toronto Hydro? 

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And just to pick one example at the top of the list, in 2012 you were the lead consultant retained by the OPA to provide technical advice and support to the CDM program engineering group?

MR. BACH:  Yes.  I was the only consultant from -- I was the only consultant, period.

MR. ELSON:  Now, rather than go through this list, subject to any objections from my colleagues, I would ask that Mr. Bach be accepted as an expert witness on CDM.

MS. HARE:  Are there any comments?  Thank you.  Mr. Bach is accepted as a witness -- as an expert witness.

[Mr. Bach qualified as expert witness]


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

Mr. Bach, you prepared the report that is marked as Exhibit K6.5 and the interrogatory responses in relation to that report?

MR. BACH:  Yes, I did.

MR. ELSON:  And do you adopt them as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Do you have any corrections to your report?

MR. BACH:  Only the one that was listed in the interrogatories from Toronto Hydro relating to the 18 megawatts of CDM.

MR. ELSON:  And that related to our discussion yesterday about the assumptions.  I don't think we need to go back into that, but is that the correction you are referring to?

MR. BACH:  Yes, it is.

MR. ELSON:  I only have two areas of questions, which will be very brief, and first I would ask you to turn up your responses to the Toronto Hydro interrogatories and, in particular, number 22.

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  I will read the interrogatory for background.  You were asked:
"For the years 2012-2021, please provide a table for each of the five stations ... listing the 19 conservation and demand initiatives..." 


And those are the initiatives referred to in your report:
"... and:  the peak reduction in MW for each initiative for each year..."
"the amount of each initiative that would be need to be contracted in order to achieve the peak reduction in MW..."


And so on.  And as an aside, interrogatories 17, 21 and 23 ask for similar detailed information in relation to the 19 conservation and demand initiatives, but for now we will focus on 22.

Your response was:
"A forecast of this type is not practical for EPL to generate without a detailed analysis of customer records held by Toronto Hydro.  However this could be prepared by Toronto Hydro in the future if the procedure described in the response to 2.2 THESL-23 for determining natural growth were to be undertaken."  


And my question is this:  Could you expand on that answer and describe for us the approach referred to in Interrogatory 23?

MR. BACH:  Yes.  I have a fundamental problem with the use of the term "natural growth" in respect to what is happening in downtown Toronto.  It's really unnatural growth, and I say that because, in the load growth appendix 2 document, Toronto Hydro acknowledges that the forecast increase in demand - and this is page 4 at the bottom - is exclusively driven by new customer connections.

We are having, in Toronto, an unprecedented rate of new buildings under construction, and I would refer to the evidence from Mr. Simpson, who compared our number of buildings under construction with New York City, and we are twice as much as they are.  And I can give you lots of other examples of how incredible this growth is.  And that is what is driving the new additions.

And the bulk of the evidence in my report relates to existing buildings, and I firmly believe that the load in existing buildings is not growing, but is shrinking, in the downtown area.  And that's for a number of the examples I listed in the way of programs, including benchmarking, and monitoring and tracking.

The remarkable change in the attitude and desires of major tenants, and I should say expectations that they have towards their building owners and property managers, in terms of requiring that they demonstrate continual improvement in the energy and environmental performance of their buildings.

And so my recommendation and my response to 2.2 THESL-23 was to, firstly, if you're going to -- in order to do a forecast, you really don't want to be looking backward, but looking forward.  Talk to the customers.  Find out what their plans are.  And I suggested that they be surveyed on a regular basis.

Build a model that -- and the number of buildings in the downtown core is not huge, by any means.  Build a model that tracks what they project for their peak demand -- their change in peak demand over the next reasonable period, and it could be two to five years, and understand what is happening to the load.

And this would be backed up by a detailed analysis of customer accounts to examine the existing buildings separate from the new buildings, and I would suggest going back to 2007 when this growth period started.

Treat them separately, and get the best information that can be gathered - I believe that comes from the City of Toronto planning department - and track them over an extended period of time and understand the growth, because at some point I believe that the reduction in load of existing buildings is going to be greater than the net load addition of new buildings.

This has to occur at some point, because there is a limitation on the amount of available land to build new projects. In fact, I think we are at about the same point in this period as we were in 1989 when the real estate market fell rather dramatically.  A lot of it was condominiums.  A lot of it was office buildings.  And the rate of construction, the rate of new additions dropped dramatically, if not completely.

So I've always found in my work that if you go out and talk to customers, you find out some rather fascinating things, because they're on the inside, and otherwise you're on the outside looking in.

MR. ELSON:  Could you comment on how your customer-based approach compares to the load growth forecast presented by Toronto Hydro in this proceeding?

MR. BACH:  As I understand the Toronto load growth forecast, it is looking backwards, taking a -- doing a trend line or regression analysis of the previous five years, and then using the slope and intercept to go forward; in other words, assuming that the growth rate will be the same going forward as it has been in the past.

In fact, even though it was 2.16 percent, they attempted to be more conservative and use 2 percent annual growth.  I cannot understand why they would be more conservative, but at 2 percent the entire load is going to double in approximately 36 years.  If you believe that that is going to happen, better be looking for new sites for transformer stations today rather than waiting any longer.

I don't happen to believe that that is going to happen.

MR. ELSON:  And why don't you believe that the 2 percent growth rate is accurate?

MR. BACH:  For the reasons that I have offered, that the market is pulling the building owners and managers to reduce their load, rather than allowing them to just carry on expanding their load by doing nothing in the way of CDM, operational improvements and tenant engagement.  And operational improvements and tenant engagement do not show up in CDM.

MR. ELSON:  And if I could finally ask you to turn to the table of contents of your report, I think in the interests of time we shouldn't go through these each individually, but are these the initiatives that you are saying will have an impact on load growth in the future?

MR. BACH:  Yes, substantially.  Well, some of them are current, although they have not been operating for very long, and some of them are on our doorstep. 

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have no further I questions in direct examination.  Unless the Board would like to go through these specific initiatives, I propose to move to the cross-examination.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Cass?  And, Mr. Cass, could you maybe find a suitable time for a short break, maybe around 3:00 o'clock? 

Thank you. 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

Mr. Bach, I provided to your counsel a copy of a press release that was issued by Environmental Defence, your client, yesterday.  I would like to start with some questions for you about that press release.

It has been passed around, I believe.  I would hope that the Panel has copies?

MS. HARE:  I don't think we do, and we should give it an exhibit number.

So will that be K7.4?

MR. ELSON:  Before this questioning starts, I am not sure how this is relevant to Mr. Bach's evidence, but of course I will have to wait for the questions first.

MR. MILLAR:  K7.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K7.4:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE PRESS RELEASE.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Bach, Environmental Defence is, indeed, your client in this proceeding; am I right? 

MR. BACH:  Yes, you are.

MR. CASS:  Right.  This is a press release that was issued by Environmental Defence; right? 

MR. BACH:  I understand that's the case.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Can I take you to the second page of Exhibit K7.4, and in particular the first paragraph of the press release, opposite "Toronto, Ontario"?

Do you see where I am at?  It says "Toronto, Ontario", 

"At today's Ontario Energy Board hearings..."

Do you see that? 

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, what this indicates is that:

"At today's Ontario Energy Board hearings in Toronto Hydro's application..."

Skipping a few words:

"... Environmental Defence will provide expert evidence that energy efficiency and local energy generation are a cheaper option for consumers." 

Now, first, you are the only expert evidence by Environmental Defence in this proceeding; is that right? 

MR. BACH:  I believe that's correct. 

MR. CASS:  So this could only be referring to your evidence; right? 

MR. BACH:  I cannot speak for the person who wrote this. 

MR. CASS:  I see.  Well, are you aware of any other expert evidence that Environmental Defence is providing in this proceeding? 

MR. BACH:  I am not aware of any other.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

And in fact, your evidence does not show that energy efficiency and local energy generation are a cheaper option for consumers than the Bremner station, does it? 

MR. BACH:  It does not.

MR. CASS:  No, it does not.  So someone, on behalf of Environmental Defence, has misrepresented your evidence, haven't they? 

MR. BACH:  Unless there was any other evidence that I am not aware of, I would have to agree with you. 

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Now, skipping down just a little further in the document, I just want to see if you agree with some of the things in your client's press release.

There is an indication -- I am just going down a few paragraphs.  You will see a paragraph starting with the words:

"Toronto has tried to put into place more effective programs..."

Are you with me there? 

MR. BACH:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And then at the end of that paragraph, there is a sentence:

"But the city's efforts have been blocked by decisions of the Ontario Power Authority and the OEB."

I just want to know:  Do you agree with that, that the OEB has been blocking efforts towards having more effective programs to reduce electricity use and generate more electricity within the city's boundaries? 

MR. BACH:  I'm probably not in a position to offer an opinion on that.

MR. CASS:  So you don't have a view one way or the other as to whether this statement made by your -- not made, in a press release from your client, Environmental Defence, is correct or not? 

MR. BACH:  I don't have a view. 

MR. CASS:  All right. 

MR. ELSON:  I would just like to note for the record this isn't a statement from Environmental Defence; it was a quote of another person. 

MR. CASS:  It certainly is an Environmental Defence press release.  Certainly.  Yes.

Just on this subject, then, of the OEB decisions, Mr. Bach, are you familiar with the OEB decisions on conservation, on CDM, that would be relevant to Toronto Hydro? 

MR. BACH:  In some specific instances, I may have encountered them in the past.  I do consult the OPA on some detailed aspects, but I do not generally interface with the OEB. 

MR. CASS:  Well, I was thinking more in terms of preparation of your document for this proceeding, whether you would have taken the time to look at the OEB decisions on CDM that are relevant to Toronto Hydro, but I take it that you didn't do that?

MR. BACH:  I did not do that.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you. 

Now, just one area on this press release before I leave it.

I am going down just a couple of more paragraphs, and there is a paragraph starting with the words "this proposal" and it says:

"This proposal doesn't make sense.  Toronto's electricity needs can be met at a lower cost and more securely by a combination of energy conservation and local power generation, according to Mr. Jack Gibbons."

That seems to be a repeat of what was in the first paragraph of the press release, purportedly from some expert evidence in this proceeding.

Were you aware that Mr. Gibbons was making statements like this, that are purportedly aligned with evidence in this proceeding? 

MR. BACH:  I am aware that Mr. Gibbons is an advocate for specific aspects of our electricity system, in particular the elimination of coal-fired power plants.

I cannot specifically answer your question in any other respect. 

MR. CASS:  All right.  Let me put it a little more broadly.

Are you aware of many different public statements that Mr. Gibbons has been making over recent months, in which he's used this proceeding as a basis for expressing his views about the Bremner project and conservation generally? 

MR. ELSON:  Again, Madam Chair, I don't see how this is relevant to Mr. Bach's evidence.

It seems to me to be some sort of challenge to Environmental Defence and Mr. Gibbons and some of the comments that he has made.

I don't see how this relates in any way to Mr. Bach's evidence.

MR. CASS:  Well, Madam Chair, what it relates to is the role that Environmental Defence has been playing in this proceeding.

Mr. Bach has already confirmed with me, in fact, that Environmental Defence has issued a press release that he has confirmed misrepresents his evidence. 

That, to me, is a fairly serious thing to think about, and so I am just exploring to what extent he may or may not have been involved in any of that.  It may well be he's not involved at all, and he is quite welcome to tell me that.

But in light of his confirmation that this press release misrepresents his evidence, I think it is at least fair to find out what he knows and to what extent he has been involved. 

[Board Panel confer]


MR. BACH:  May I comment that I don't recall your asking me if I was aware of this press release prior to your providing it?  If that's inherent in one of your questions, may I assure you that I had nothing to do with this press release, nor was I at all aware of it until you put it on my desk this morning.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.  That is useful.

So I take it, then, from that answer that you might well have been concerned about seeing your evidence represented in this way, if you had been told about it before it was released?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. BACH:  You're drawing an inference.  I really can't speak to that issue.

Quite frankly, my total communication with Environmental Defence has been through Mr. Gibbons.  I do not know the people at Environmental Defence directly. 

MR. CASS:  All right.  Are you aware that Mr. Gibbons gave an interview to a reporter right in this hearing room yesterday?  Were you in the room yesterday when that happened? 

MR. ELSON:  Again --


MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass, I think Mr. Bach has answered he didn't have anything to do with this.  So maybe we could move on. 

MR. CASS:  Okay.

Are you involved in any of the same organizations as Mr. Gibbons? 

MR. BACH:  Can you be specific? 

MR. CASS:  Yes.  He seems to be involved in a number of organizations.  The Ontario Clean Air Alliance is a name that comes up.  Environmental Defence is another name that comes up.  Toronto Environmental Alliance. 

Any of these organizations, are you involved in any of these same organizations as Mr. Gibbons?

MR. ELSON:  I'm sorry, I don't know if there is any evidence of what organizations Mr. Gibbons is a part of.  He is not a part of the Toronto Environmental Alliance.  And I also don't see, again, the relevance of this line of questioning.

MR. CASS:  The relevance is it would go to the independence of the witness, and I don't know, either.  It is just a question.

MS. HARE:  But now I am a bit confused, because we all accepted Mr. Bach as an expert witness, which includes being independent.  So are you questioning that now?

MR. CASS:  I am not questioning whether he is an expert witness.  I am just questioning whether he's involved in any of these organizations, which I think would go to the weight the Board gives to his evidence.

MS. HARE:  Okay, just give us a minute, please.

[Board Panel confer]

MR. ELSON:  Madam Chair, if Mr. Bach wishes to answer the question whether he is involved in Environmental Defence, I believe he already gave the answer, or the OCAA.  I wouldn't have any objection to that.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. BACH:  Other than my preparation of this evidence, I am not involved with those three organizations that you listed.

MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  I will move on.

Can I take you to your response to Toronto Hydro's Interrogatory No. 2 that was put on the -- that was put to you on the document that was filed in this proceeding, Mr. Bach?

First, did you write the interrogatory responses?

MR. BACH:  I prepared my response to Mr. Elson, who then adapted it or produced the Environmental Defence response.

MR. CASS:  I see, okay.  I am looking, in particular, at the first sentence of the second paragraph of this response.  It indicates that a figure of 18 megawatts in 2014 was provided to you in what is called the terms of reference for your report and was based on a mistaken reading of table 6.

Now, since there was a mistaken reading of some of the evidence in this proceeding that formed the basis for the work that you did, I don't know, but am I right in concluding that you hadn't actually read the evidence yourself?

MR. BACH:  I did -- I did not read all of the evidence before I wrote the report.

I did provide Environmental Defence with a description of what I felt I could provide and I set about to provide that.

MR. CASS:  I see.  What evidence did you read before you wrote your document?

MR. BACH:  I read parts of the business case evaluation and I read appendix 2, the load growth or load 
-- yes, the load growth description.

MR. CASS:  I see.  And have you read any more of the evidence since then, or is that the extent to which you have reviewed the evidence?

MR. BACH:  I have sat through this proceeding for the last day and a half and followed along the discussion.

MR. CASS:  All right.  That is the extent of your familiarity with the evidence, then?

MR. BACH:  That, and my involvement in things related to Toronto Hydro over a number of years.

MR. CASS:  I see, okay.  Now, this response that I just took you to, it refers to terms of reference, you will see there, and we had a bit of discussion about this yesterday.

I realize that your document has some reference at the outset to terms of reference; right?

MR. BACH:  Mm-hm.  It does.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  And this document was written by you?  I'm talking here about Exhibit K6.5.  This was written by you?

MR. BACH:  Other than the terms of reference, section 1.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, this is what -- actually, what I'm trying to understand, because it doesn't seem to me it would be normal for a consultant to write their own terms of reference, and this is your document.

So I am trying to understand what terms of reference you got from your client.  Can you help me with that?

MR. BACH:  I was provided with these terms of reference by my client.

MR. CASS:  Is it a document that provided you with these terms of reference?

MR. BACH:  It is a separate document that included specifically the terms of reference.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Is there any reason why we can't see that separate document?

MR. BACH:  I believe I could produce it.

MR. ELSON:  Could I interject here?  There is no more terms of reference other than what is in section 1 of this report.  This is what -- the terms of reference that were provided to Mr. Bach, which is, you know, identical to what is in section 1 of his report which appears at page 1 here.

MR. CASS:  The only problem I'm having, Madam Chair, is that didn't seem to be what Mr. Bach said.

MR. ELSON:  I mean, it was provided to Mr. Bach in an e-mail, but there weren't other portions of it that aren't included here.

MS. HARE:  But, Mr. Bach, is this verbatim what was in the e-mail?

MR. BACH:  As far as I recall, this is verbatim.  I thought it was an attachment to an e-mail, which is why I said it was in a document.  That is my recollection.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Again, is there some difficulty with producing it?  If it is exactly what's in this Exhibit K6.5, I can't imagine that there is any issue around others seeing the document.

MR. ELSON:  I don't think it will be useful to provide what is exactly the wording that is in here, but, I mean, we can provide that to you.

It was during drafts of the report that it was provided, and there will be -- I will have to look exactly at what else was provided to Mr. Bach to see if there is other litigation privileged items that were in that e-mail, but, you know, again, I don't think it is going to be helpful.

There are no other terms of reference or additional wording in the terms of reference, other than what is excerpted here in this report.

MR. CASS:  So you will provide it, subject to the caveats that you indicate?

MR. ELSON:  I mean, I can provide, again, the wording that is here, but I don't think it is going to be helpful to you.  I mean, I can provide that undertaking, but it's not -- I don't think it is going to be of assistance to provide exactly what is in this report.  I'm not sure exactly what you're getting at.

MS. HARE:  I think perhaps it goes to independence.  If there is no difficulty in providing it, then we would like to see it.

MR. ELSON:  We will provide the wording of the terms of reference provided to the witness, but, again, it is the same that was in here.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.4:  TO PROVIDE WORDING OF THE TERMS OF REFERENCE PROVIDED TO MR. BACH BY ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE.

MR. CASS:  It was of interest to me, Madam Chair, to see whatever the documentation was.  If there is some claim to litigation privilege, that is fine, but in my submission we should see the document and the claim to litigation privilege can be attached to whatever is appropriate, rather than some extract from the document being provided to us.

MR. ELSON:  You're looking for me for a response.  I think we -- I'm sorry, could you repeat your question?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  It sounds to me that what you are proposing is you will extract something from a document that will appear exactly as what is in this report here, and that was a little less than what I was looking for.

I would like to see what was provided to Mr. Bach by way of terms of reference from Environmental Defence.

If you have some claim of litigation privilege attaching to some of it, you can make that claim in your undertaking response.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, yes, agreed.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  So am I right in thinking, Mr. Bach, -- correct me if I'm wrong.  Am I to take it that your report was prepared in response to something in the Navigant report?

MR. BACH:  I think that the answer to the interrogatory describes the commencement, at least, of the rationale for the preparation of the report.

I went outside, to some extent, the original terms of reference.  I interpreted it as being rather more broad-based. 

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, I am just looking at the interrogatory response that we were discussing, and it refers to some information that you were provided with mistakenly, based on a reading of the Navigant report.

I am just trying to figure out:  Does that mean you were or were not responding in your document to the Navigant report? 

MR. BACH:  I was responding to the terms of reference. 

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, the reason I am asking, just to get to the point, is the Board's requirements, as I understand them, is when one expert is responding to another expert, there is a requirement to set out your areas of agreement and disagreement. 

And you haven't done that in relation to the Navigant Report; right? 

MR. BACH:  I'm confirming your statement. 

MR. CASS:  All right.  I think the Board's requirements also indicate that the requirements for an expert witness are supposed to be explained to the expert witness.

Did that ever happen?  Were the Board's requirements for an expert witness explained to you? 

MR. BACH:  I should perhaps say this is my second time at being a witness, although the first time was many years ago. 

So I think the simple answer is no, they were not explained in that kind of detail. 

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BACH:  But may I say that I think my report is in response to the entire rationale for THESL's approach to determining the need, from a load forecast point of view, for the Bremner station? 

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Can I take you, then, to page 2 of your report, if you don't mind? 

Looking under the heading "Introduction," and it indicates that:

"The report describes programs and other things that will have a specific impact on the downtown area."

What are you referring to as "the downtown area"? 

MR. BACH:  Well, the five transformer stations. 

MR. CASS:  I see.  But your report does not actually discuss initiatives that have a specific impact on the downtown area, does it? 

MR. BACH:  To the extent that it examines a number of initiatives that would more specifically affect the downtown area than other parts of the city, I believe it does.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Can you show me where your report does that, where it focuses on specific impacts in the downtown area? 

MR. BACH:  Well, the reference by -- I'm sorry, I've forgotten the name of the representative of the school board coalition.  Mr. --


MR. CASS:  Shepherd? 

MR. BACH:  -- Shepherd.  No, I'm sorry, Mr. Brett referred to my report for the City of Toronto downtown and central waterfront planning activity.

To the extent that the section on district energy potential makes specific reference to the district energy plants identified by the consultant to the City of Toronto's energy efficiency office, to the extent that the benchmarking and reporting programs have a particularly strong uptake in the downtown Toronto core, I believe it does.

MR. CASS:  Well, I am thinking specifically of programs and initiatives that are specific to the downtown core.

Can you help me with that, in terms of what's in your document? 

MR. BACH:  You didn't feel my answer was satisfactory? 

MR. CASS:  Well, if that is the entirety of your answer with respect to programs and initiatives that are specific to the downtown core, then I will move on. 

MR. BACH:  Short of going through every one, that is my answer. 

MR. CASS:  All right. 

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass, is this a good time for a break? 

MR. CASS:  Yes, indeed.  Thank you.
Procedural Matters:


MS. HARE:  Before we break, I would like to outline what we have in mind for process going forward, so the parties can have a chance to think about it over the break.

We have tomorrow afternoon set aside for argument in-chief.

I think in the Procedural Order it had stated one o'clock.  We would like to move that to 1:30, if that is acceptable.

Then on March 1st we have intervenor submissions, and I think parties understand that it would be our preference to have oral submissions.

We would like to limit submissions of all parties to 30 minutes, with the exception of the Environmental Defence Fund, in recognition of the fact that you have put forward a witness, in which case we would suggest 45 minutes. 

For those parties that are not able to do an oral submission on the 1st, we would like the written submission by the end of day February 28th.  Okay? 

MR. CASS:  Just for clarity, Madam Chair, was the 30 minutes in relation to the applicant, as well? 

MS. HARE:  No. 

MR. CASS:  Thank you. 

MS. HARE:  No.  But if you are three hours... no.  Okay.  So let's take a break, a short break, till 3:15. 

--- Recess taken at 3:00 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:18 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass, are you ready to resume the cross?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Bach, I propose to go through some questions with you in an attempt to short-circuit things and leave you comfortably in a position to meet your timing this afternoon.

I want to ask you about things that I hope we can agree are not covered by your document, all right?

And let me just say that this is not meant to be a criticism.  This is, in part, why I was interested in your terms of reference, because of course what you did is based on what your client asked you to do, right, in the terms of reference?

MR. BACH:  Well, as I said earlier -- as I said earlier, I believe that I expanded the scope in terms of what I undertook.  Beyond that, yes, it was intended to respond to the terms of reference.

MR. CASS:  Right.  So it is not intended to be a criticism of your work, but I just want to see if we can agree on things that are not covered in your report.

So I certainly do see discussion in your document about potential CDM.  I did not see any analysis or conclusions about realizable CDM.  Can we agree on that?

MR. BACH:  Could you define "realizable CDM"?

MR. CASS:  Well, I could use a different word if it makes it easier for you.  What I saw was a discussion of potential CDM.  I did not see you analyzing or coming to any conclusions about what CDM might actually be achieved in future years.  Am I right?

MR. BACH:  Let me phrase it this way.  A lot of my report is about market transformation.  It is market transformation that is occurring.  CDM is one component of market transformation.

I did not attempt to project in detail CDM specifically in the Toronto downtown district.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And, more specifically, if I could use the word "quantify", you didn't attempt to give the Board any quantification of CDM that it could expect, that the Board could expect in the downtown area; right?

MR. BACH:  I provided the historical results for the BOMA CDM program, which I look at as one of the most successful, in that it was an industry-driven program, and I could wish it was still being delivered that way.  But, no, beyond that, no, I don't believe I did.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And you didn't give the Board any evidence about a time frame over which specific amounts of CDM the Board can expect -- the time frame over which the Board can expect specific amounts of CDM to be achieved; right?

MR. BACH:  To the extent that I provided a comment about the fact that there was a gap in the delivery of CDM programs in Toronto between the time that the BOMA program ended and the Toronto Hydro program began, I, in fact, cited a statement in the Toronto Hydro CDM report of, I believe, 2007 where they argued that it took a while for CDM programs to come back or to, in fact, ramp up to be delivered, and I provided the BOMA CDM results which demonstrate that adequately.

I did provide information related to the fact that that interruption would, in fact, result in a drop in CDM, in the CDM ramping up, which would have to be recovered, but otherwise, no, I did not comment on the timing.

MR. CASS:  So you're talking about some time lag there, as I understand what you just said.  You're referring to a time lag in ramping up of CDM?

MR. BACH:  The time lag was caused by the transfer of the delivery of CDM programs from various parties over to the local distribution companies, and the local distribution companies had a significant amount of time to get ready and still were not ready the beginning of 2011.

And the market -- the market does what the market does.  They don't sit there waiting for CDM programs.  So you have to familiarize themselves.  The delivery agents changed.  The documentation changed.  The website changed.  And that resulted in a significant drop in CDM activity throughout almost all of 2011.

MR. CASS:  But just for clarity, this potential CDM that you refer to in your document, you haven't indicated to the Board:   Here's your expectation of when this potential or any part of it will be achieved; right?

MR. BACH:  I have not.  I do not have the data to make such a forecast.

MR. CASS:  And, similarly, with respect to this potential CDM, you haven't indicated to the Board a view of the costs to achieve this potential or any part of it; right?

MR. BACH:  No, I have not indicated to the Board.

MR. CASS:  And so your evidence does not get into anything that would give the Board a basis to decide whether the CDM potential can be realized cost effectively on a timetable that would affect the Bremner project; right?

MR. BACH:  Let me describe my evidence again as more market transformation.  And in that market transformation, I cited a number of activities, which indicate that the market has changed from a market push to a market pull.

And having been involved in sustainable building activities for more than 20 years, I can tell you it is a refreshing change and it's ramping up very quickly at an accelerating pace, and CDM is one tool that will assist building owners and managers to continue that accelerating pace.

MR. CASS:  All right.  But there is nothing in your report that tells the Board, from a timing point of view or a cost point of view, that this potential will do away with the need for the Bremner project; right?  There is nothing in your document that says that?

MR. BACH:  I do not quantify the CDM uptake rate or actual amount, no.  I talked about the appetite of the market.

MR. CASS:  Right.  You didn't quantify either the costs or the timing; right?

MR. BACH:  No.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, still nothing?

MR. MILLAR:  No questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Elson, re-direct?
Re-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Just very briefly.

You were asked which initiatives are specific to downtown Toronto, and I was confused about whether we were talking about initiatives that are only applying to Toronto or initiatives that would apply elsewhere and Toronto.

And so maybe I could just ask you, of the 19 or so initiatives referred to in your report, how many of them would apply to Toronto, so not necessarily being specific to Toronto, but would have an impact in downtown Toronto, or you could answer the reverse?  How many wouldn't have any impact in downtown Toronto?

MR. BACH:  I think they will all have an impact or are having an impact on downtown Toronto.

MR. ELSON:  And my second question is:  Why was it not possible for you to provide the kind of estimates of costs and megawatts and timings of the various initiatives, as asked by THESL in its interrogatories? 

MR. BACH:  Well, if I was going to provide such a projection, I would have to rely upon the BOMA CDM report and Toronto Hydro's annual CDM report.

Toronto Hydro's annual CDM reports typically come through in October and November for the previous year, which would mean there is essentially one report available.

I don't think there is a 2010 report, but if I were to sit down and get up-to-date information on the amount of CDM that was being realized from the Toronto Hydro reports, I might have some idea, or I might have some possibility of providing such a projection.

What we have is one report that came out in, I think, about October or November for 2011.  And one can't produce a report that offers any kind of guidance with a single data point.

MR. ELSON:  It might be helpful perhaps to have a distinction between CDM run by Toronto Hydro, and also they asked you for the impact of, you know, costs and timing of all of the initiatives, including, you know, listing some of your building code, the Toronto green standard.  I believe you address this in Interrogatory 23, but I would like to clarify why this -- you know, who might be the appropriate entity to do that kind of analysis, and why you couldn't.

MR. BACH:  Well, Toronto Hydro has in their records the summer peak demand of each and every one of their customers.  And they also know the CDM activity, the level of activity that they're achieving, and they can specifically link it to downtown Toronto.

I did receive from BOMA, after I submitted my report, a detailed listing of their CDM activities by postal code, so that we could combine those two pieces of information and perhaps cast some kind of a forecast.

But Toronto Hydro has the data; I do not.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you. 

Thank you very much, Mr. Bach.

MR. BACH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Procedural Matters:


MS. HARE:  That concludes our hearing, so we will meet tomorrow afternoon at 1:30.

Were there any comments on the schedule, the process that I outlined in terms of the timelines?  Okay.  Thank you.

And I just would like to ask on the progress of undertaking responses. 

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I checked at the last opportunity Madam Chair, and the response was the same.  They are in progress.  We'll get them as quickly as possible.  I think there is an objective to answer as many as possible today. 

MS. HARE:  Today? 

MR. CASS:  I don't want to over-promise though, so that is the objective and that is what is being worked towards. 

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, that doesn't affect your argument in-chief, I would assume? 

MR. CASS:  No, I don't think so, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  So as soon as possible, and I think that still gives intervenors enough time to prepare their submissions. 

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you very much. 

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:31 p.m.
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